Authentic Learning with Portfolios: A Combination that K-12 Education Needs

by

Angelo Vozza

B.S.E, University of Michigan (2019)

Submitted to the Institute for Data, Systems, and Society in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master's of Science in Technology and Policy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2023

© 2023 Angelo Vozza. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT a nonexclusive, worldwide, irrevocable, royalty-free license to exercise any and all rights under copyright, including to reproduce, preserve, distribute and publicly display copies of the thesis, or release the thesis under an open-access license.

Authored by: Angelo Vozza Institute for Data, Systems, and Society May 12, 2023

Certified by: Richard C. Larson Professor (Post Tenure), Institute for Data, Systems, and Society Thesis Supervisor

Accepted by: Noelle Eckley Selin Professor, Institute for Data, Systems, and Society and Department of Earth, Atmospheric and Planetary Sciences Director, Technology and Policy Program

Authentic Learning with Portfolios: A Combination that K-12 Education Needs

by

Angelo Vozza

Submitted to the Institute for Data, Systems, and Society on May 12, 2023, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master's of Science in Technology and Policy

Abstract

Education systems play a critical role in sustaining a society by equipping citizens with the mindsets and skills necessary for professional and personal success. The American K12 education system has unfortunately not kept pace though with the demands of the 21st century. Students need systemic changes that make learning more meaningful and more engaging of their existing skills and interests. Authentic learning practices, like Project-Based, Community-Based, and Work-Based Learning, make such changes by orienting instruction around topics relevant to students' experiences and allowing students to practice their knowledge in real-world settings. Schools can encourage the adoption of authentic learning by implementing a complementary practice like portfolios. Local successes in schools using authentic learning and portfolios separately demonstrate their joint viability, but a system that combines the practices and can scale nationally has yet to be discovered.

Using the local "existence proofs" as starting points, I developed a system architecture that addresses many known barriers to adoption, including the time/resource constraints of schools, colleges, employers and the inequitable access some students have to engaging learning experiences. This initial proposal did not, however, address constraints imposed by schools' accountability obligations nor stakeholders' uncertainty over their peers' readiness to adopt the system. By investigating how federal and state policies have enacted similar transformations, I determined that authentic learning portfolios will likely require government mandates. These mandates could face pushback, however, from families concerned that the proposal would hurt their student's college options. I also interviewed colleges to establish what changes to the proposal were needed to ensure their support and thus satisfy parents' concerns. My findings helped refine the proposed system architecture as well as outline the next steps needed to successfully implement the proposal.

Thesis Supervisor: Richard C. Larson Title: Professor (Post Tenure), Institute for Data, Systems and Society

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Open Education Resources Foundation, Sarasota, Florida, as part of a multi-person project, "Equitable, Inclusive, Effective STEM Learning for All, Via Open Learning, Available to High Schools, Urban, Rural and Suburban." I would not have been able to write this thesis without the mentorship and support of the project's principal investigator Dr. Richard C. Larson; his feedback and candor helped me dive deeper into the problems facing the education ecosystem, and my research was better for it, I would also like to thank Dr. Anthony Perry for his guidance in preparing my interview protocols and solidifying the theoretical framework for my thesis. We may have been a small team, yet we made great progress towards advancing the K12 education discourse.

I also want to thank my family for their love and care which got me to and through MIT. Mom, while you are no longer here with us, your memory helped me push on even when I wanted to quit. Dante and Massimo, you helped keep me grounded and laughing even when my stress was high. And Dad, thank you for always being a call away when I needed a sounding board for my ideas and reassurance for when I doubted myself.

I also could not have gotten through this thesis without the support of my loving partner JG. You kept a smile on my face and always reminded me that not all my intrusive thoughts were true, only some.

Finally, my MIT experience and this thesis was shaped by all the teachers and mentors I have had the opportunity to learn from during my academic journey. Mrs. Hall, Mrs. Trapp, Mrs. Taplin, Mrs. Forton, Mr. Failor, Ms. Goldstein, Ms. Roehrich, Chris, Amanda, Michael, and all the others I may have missed: thank you for all the ways you have improved my learning and thinking, and I hope I did you proud in my small attempt to reform education.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	15
	1.1	Education's Need for Transformation	15
	1.2	The Case for Student Engagement	17
	1.3	Exploring Portfolios and Authentic Learning Artifacts	19
	1.4	Thesis Overview	22
2	Aut	thentic Learning and Portfolios: Better Together	25
	2.1	Authentic Learning	25
		2.1.1 Project-Based Learning	26
		2.1.2 Community-Based Learning	27
		2.1.3 Work-Based Learning	29
	2.2	Performance Assessment	30
	2.3	Portfolios	31
		2.3.1 Existing Uses in K12 Education	32
		2.3.2 Existing Uses in Higher Education	36
		2.3.3 Existing Uses in Workforce	39
	2.4	The Synergy Between Authentic Learning and Portfolios	47
3	Init	ial System Architecture Proposal	49
	3.1	Ecosystem	49
	3.2	Stakeholders	50
	3.3	Strategy	52
	3.4	Information	53

. .	57 59 60 61 62 62 62 64 65 65 65 65 65 65 65 67 67 67
 	59 60 61 62 62 64 65 65 65 65 65 66 67 67 67 67
 	60 61 62 62 64 65 65 65 65 65 66 67 67 67
 	 61 62 62 64 65 65 65 66 67 67 67 69
 	62 62 64 65 65 65 66 67 67 67 67
 	62 64 65 65 65 66 67 67 67 67
 	64 65 65 66 67 67 67 67
 	65 65 66 67 67 67 67
 	65 65 66 67 67 67 69
 	65 66 67 67 67 69
 	66 67 67 67 69
· · · · · · · · · · · ·	67 67 67 69
· · · · · · · · · · · ·	67 67 67 69
· · · · · · · · · · · · ·	67 67 69
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	67 69
· · · · · · · · · · · ·	69
	71
	72
	74
v	77
<u>.</u>	78
	78
	79
	80
	81
	83
	84
	85
· · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

6	Sec	uring the Support of Higher Education	87							
	6.1	Interview Methodology	88							
		6.1.1 Limitations	89							
	6.2	Perspectives on Operational Details	90							
		6.2.1 Possible Use Cases in Admissions	90							
		6.2.2 Barriers From Resource Limitations	92							
		6.2.3 Other Features	94							
	6.3	6.3 Perceptions of Stakeholder Readiness								
	6.4	Next Steps for Higher Education	98							
			0.0							
7	Cor	<u>iclusion</u>	99							
	7.1	Changes to the System Architecture	100							
	7.2	Action Plan	102							
		7.2.1 Implement Practice-Friendly Policies	102							
		7.2.2 Start Experiments to Refine Design	103							
		7.2.3 Form Evaluation Organizations	104							
		7.2.4 Educate Stakeholders	105							

List of Figures

3-1	Stakeholder salience map for authentic learning portfolios	53
3-2	Process map for creating a portfolio.	62
3-3	Process map for performance assessment using a portfolio	63
3-4	Process map for candidate evaluation using a portfolio	64

List of Tables

C 1	Classe of anistical of callers																			
0	Unaracteristics of college s	sample i																		6
0.1	Characteristics of conege	South brown	• •	•	• •	•	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Education's Need for Transformation

Education systems play a critical role in sustaining a society by equipping citizens with the abilities and mindsets necessary for personal and professional success. Quality schooling increases an individual's economic standing, civic participation, and standard of living (OECD, 2019) 2022). While typically conversations around education reform focus on skill development, the importance of socializing students to work better with their peers and understand cultural norms should not be minimized. An effective education system successfully develops both a student's cognitive¹ and noncognitive² qualities. While a student's cognitive development prepares them with the knowledge and skills necessary to understand a situation and solve associated problems, their equally important non-cognitive development helps them do these tasks most effectively. Without qualities like self-discipline, meta-cognition, communication, and cooperation, students would struggle to take the theoretical knowledge they hold and apply it to the more nuanced problems they face outside the classroom (Bjorklund-Young, 2016). Success, both professionally and personally, depends

¹"the skills involved in performing the tasks associated with perception, learning, memory, understanding, awareness, reasoning, judgment, intuition, and language" ("Cognitive Ability", n.d.)

²"patterns of thought, feelings, and behavior" that shape how an individual approaches a new situation (Borghans et al., 2008)

on these so-called "soft skills," and a school system unable to adapt to the times to facilitate their development will ultimately fail its students.

American K12 education has unfortunately not kept pace with the needs of the 21st century. The current system still reflects the needs of a more industrial economy in which students could easily find meaningful employment with a high school diploma (Rose, 2012; Schrager, 2018; "U.S. Education", 2020). Schools could focus on rote learning to reinforce the cognitive skills a student would need to work on the assembly line. Some students would pursue higher education to advance their career, yet again much of their development responded directly to needs of a growing economy. America has since changed, and the current needs of society can longer be addressed by the outdated system. The economy has shifted away from manufacturing towards services, and as a result, an individual's communication and interpersonal skills hold greater weight during their job search (Spar et al., 2018). People more connected through technology to their global peers than ever before in human history, thus requiring young adults to rely more on their non-cognitive qualifications to differentiate themselves in the competition for limited college and career opportunities (OECD, 2022). The United States has long faced these challenges, yet recent events have made change even more necessary.

The COVID-19 pandemic has not only amplified the challenges faced by American schools but also has created the unique opportunity for the system to make meaningful reforms. School closings and disruption of normal services have effectively eliminated pre-pandemic gains in reading and math achievement (Mahnken, 2022). Absenteeism soared during remote classes, and for many districts, students have yet to return fully (Mehta, 2023). While some measures like college enrollment have begun returning to normal, the impacts to all ages of students will continue to have ripple effects for decades to come ("COVID-19", 2022). Some of the most obvious ripple effects have occurred on college campuses where professors note their incoming classes lack many of the basic skills that they need to succeed in their introductory level courses (Fawcett, 2022). With the many challenges that schools have faced in the past not being brought into the national spotlight, policymakers and private organizations

have readied themselves to make needed investments to reform the system. Through the Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund, nearly \$200 billion in federal funds have been set aside to help school districts implement learning recovery programs ("Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund", n.d.} Horn, 2022). As one of the largest influxes of money into education in recent years, schools can now make needed changes to their status quo.

The non-adaptive K12 education system requires more than simple fixes though to respond to its problems, and without broad systemic changes, many students will continue to struggle. Traditional practices, such as high-impact tutoring in response to learning loss, have made up much of ESSER funds' use yet do not support students that already trailed behind their peers equitably (Horn, 2022; Kane, 2022). Students at the low end of the achievement gap prior to the pandemic must now also overcome the learning loss caused by shutdowns, and thus, basic interventions must work significantly more to make an impact. Systemic changes, however, address the root causes of learning gaps rather than just patching them up to create short-term successes. The reforms needed to the systems are frequently costly, yet ESSER funds create a once-in-a-generation moment to start necessary work (Horn, 2022] Kane, 2022). As funding and time will still be limited, the first step should then be identifying the features of the systems through which reforms can make the largest improvements.

1.2 The Case for Student Engagement

Student engagement, or rather the lack thereof, has contributed to many of the challenges faced by American schools. Engagement can comprise many aspects of the student's learning experience, but for the purposes of this thesis, it will describe the student's attention and interest in the material taught in their school. Highly engaged students often find motivation to pursue the material further, may conduct their own independent exploration of the subject, and can often connect coursework to their personal lives ("Student Engagement", 2013). Conversely, disengaged students do not see the relevance of the material being taught and thus will make minimal effort both in and out of the classroom.

Transforming how the education system approaches engagement can make classrooms more responsive to contemporary needs, community context, and students' existing strengths. Engaged students often contribute more to class discussions and can use their personal voice to shape lesson plans to consider these perspectives (Conner et al., 2022). By considering the contemporary context to topics, students can find their learning more relevant to their lives. Likewise, viewing learning through the perspective of their community further connects subject material to situations they are familiar with. Research has, for example, found that including a community context to a subject like math can better engage Black male students by helping them visualize how the content relates to the problems they see in their neighborhoods (McGee and Pearman, 2015). Finally, engaged students typically feel more comfortable leveraging their strengths and asking for help with their weaknesses. Engagement builds a sense of optimism around learning which encourages students to try new things with less fear of failing (Medlin and Smith, 2011). Rather than shy away from challenges, engaged students take them head on and learn more as a result.

Research supports the case for engagement, yet other measures like achievement as determined by test performance often take precedence in reforms. The system often chooses test-based achievement out of convenience; standardized tests provide a seemingly easy and replicable way to record a student's cognitive development. Agencies may find it harder to quantify engagement and its impacts beyond test scores, so they shy away from orienting their efforts around it because success will be harder to demonstrate (Fredricks et al., 2011). Stakeholders like colleges further maintain the status quo by integrating achievement measures into their own processes. With many colleges historically requiring tests like the SAT and ACT for admissions, states have designed high school accountability systems around the tests (Klein, 2018). The noble rationale for the choice was to remove barriers to college by offering them a free test registration, yet colleges' endorsement of test-based achievement discourages schools from considering more radical approaches. Even though policies like the Every Student Succeeds Act grants states more autonomy over the tests and practices they use for accountability, the current landscape has continued to constrain creativity and thus further ignore engagement (Gewertz, 2018). Stakeholders within the educational ecosystem as well as those who support it externally must play a role in designing system-wide changes. The difficult question remains though: what practices should be given the chance to change the system for good?

1.3 Exploring Portfolios and Authentic Learning Artifacts

This thesis specifically considers authentic learning portfolios as a strong candidate for transforming K12 education to better engage students. My proposal combines two approaches with documented potential for improving student learning outcomes. Portfolios provide the proposed system with an infrastructure that facilitates the needs of complementary practices. For the purposes of this paper, *an educational portfolio* consists of:

- Artifacts of student's learning, created originally for a more immediate purpose (i.e. class assignment, extracurricular competition)
- Reflections by the student, written to provide context on how artifacts connect to the student's learning and future goals
- Feedback from trusted adults (i.e. teachers, supervisors, mentors), oriented to evaluate student's current abilities and provide direction for further improvement

Historically, individuals have collected physical copies of artifacts, yet with the modern growth of information technology, many individuals choose to construct digital ePortfolios instead due to their greater flexibility in construction and ease in distributing. Regardless of form, an individual's portfolio can serve multiple purposes; in talent development and hiring, for example, the common purposes of portfolios include "the development, the assessment, and the documentation of qualities" (Strohmeier, 2010). An individual can design a portfolio to fit a narrow purpose, yet more often, they choose to create one master portfolio containing all artifacts and tailor sub-portfolios from it as needed.

Portfolios can support the adoption of more authentic learning practices in schools, centering student engagement as a central goal of the education system. I define for this thesis *authentic learning* as educational practices that account for a student's existing knowledge and make deliberate attempts to connect subject matter to a student's interests (Donovan et al., 1999); this contrasts with more artificial instructional practices like multiple-choice tests and worksheets which often present a one-size-fits-all approach to teaching and fail to demonstrate the relevance material has to the students' lives. Specific examples included in this paper's definition include

- **Project-Based Learning:** practices which orient learning outside of individual assignments, requiring a longer time commitment and generally offering students autonomy in what their outcomes look like
- **Community-Based Learning:** practices which orient learning within a physical community outside the classroom, such as the school, town, or region
- Work-Based Learning: practices that orient learning in a professional environment, often having students with a local company or organization in an internship or work-study capacity

These practices need not exist in vacuums, and often work best in conjunction with one another. For example, combining Project- and Community- Based Learning has helped the Cabot School in Vermont foster a learning environment that encourages students to identify problems from their community and develop ways using their abilities to address them; past projects ranged from exploring how New England nature has impacted American literature to investigating challenges faced by the community's watershed ("Cabot Projects | High-Quality Project-Based Learning", $\overline{n.d.}$). Literature also supports that combining Community-Based principles with other approaches can better engage underserved students by connecting learning to the challenges they face daily (Martin and Fisher-Ari, <u>2021</u>; McGee and Pearman, <u>2015</u>).

Authentic learning artifact portfolios are chosen here as a preferred approach to changing the education system as they have unique potential to address the diverse needs of educational stakeholders. Stakeholders within the US educational system range from K12 schools tasked with providing the education, to higher education institutions and employers that then admit or hire students with the necessary skills, to government and non-profit agencies evaluating and regulating the efficacy of schools, to parents and students themselves who have their own influence on the other groups in the system. Authentic learning artifact portfolios transcend stakeholders' diverse requirements and goals by interacting with the common themes that tie them together: evaluation and assessment. While student learning remains the goal for all the stakeholders, addressing evaluation and assessment through system changes could offer the most inertia for change due to how these processes inform instruction (Biggs, 1999). By designing authentic learning portfolios to address the evaluation and assessment needs of the stakeholders, the system needed inertia to encourage the complementary innovations to be implemented.

Despite the early evidence and arguments in favor of portfolios and authentic learning, the education landscape has been slow to widely consider the practices for various operational reasons. Operationally, both practices pose challenges to an already resource-challenged system; in one model, it is estimated the US underfunds its public schools by roughly \$150 billion ("Closing America's Education Funding Gaps", 2020). Once adopted, stakeholders may continue to face challenges due to the time required to adequately prepare and evaluate artifacts. Within high schools, counselors often have an overwhelming caseload that prevents them from giving the individual attention to students that they would need while putting together their portfolios ("School Counselors Matter", 2019). Stakeholders receiving portfolios will also face challenges due to time as many colleges currently must spend less than 10 minutes reviewing admissions applications (Korn, 2018); hiring managers face their average review time of less than 8 seconds per resume, again not enough to appropriately review a compelling portfolio (O'Donnell, 2018).

Beyond the operational challenges, which can be addressed through the system architecture, the perceptions stakeholders have of each other also impact the viability of implementing the practices. Authentic learning portfolios would signal a substantial departure from convention in the educational landscape, but many entities have hesitated to become the first mover in the transition. This hesitancy has not stopped entities from signaling their support for the changes; for example, the Mastery Transcript Consortium secured the support of 160 higher education institutions for their alternative transcript that feature components of portfolios and authentic learning (Montes, 2021). These supporters, however, have yet to initiate a complete adoption of the practice out of concern other stakeholders could not play their role effectively or that the transition would affect their standing among their peers. Many of these perceptions have not been explored in the literature fully, hence the need for this research into how cooperation can be achieved to promote adoption of an authentic learning portfolio system.

1.4 Thesis Overview

This thesis aims to propose a comprehensive system design for using authentic learning portfolios across K-12 and Higher Education. In preparing the operational details for this system design, I also considered the following research questions:

- What features lead to a successful implementation of an authentic learning artifact portfolio in K12 learning and higher education admissions?
- What are the actual and perceived restrictions that have prevented wide adoption of authentic learning artifact portfolios?
- What next steps can stakeholders take to foster a landscape that encourages portfolios?

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 expands on my definitions of authentic learning and portfolios and provides examples of how each

are currently implemented inside and outside of schools. Chapter 3 then introduces an initial attempt at a system design for authentic learning portfolios. Chapter 4 identifies the current barriers that have constrained wide adoption of authentic learning approaches. Chapter 5 explores, through an analysis of the enactments of two similar transformations, how policy could support the adoption of authentic learning portfolios. Chapter 6 presents findings from interviews with college admissions representatives regarding their perspectives on using portfolios in their processes. Chapter 7 then concludes by discussing the broader implications of this research on designing education transformations and proposes a final system design and action plan for using authentic learning artifacts in education.

Chapter 2

Authentic Learning and Portfolios: Better Together

Schools could equally benefit from implementing authentic learning and portfolios individually, but the two practices make the largest impact when implemented in coordination with each other. In this chapter, I expand the definitions of authentic learning and portfolios by identifying existence proofs of the practices. Existence proofs here demonstrate successful implementations of the practices in individual local settings. I include existence proofs from within education as well as some examples of practices' use outside the classroom when adoption by schools have remained limited. Using a variety of existence proofs, I then explain why a combination of authentic learning and portfolios has the most potential to facilitate more student engagement.

2.1 Authentic Learning

Authentic learning, again, consists of instructional practices that intentionally connect course material to topics and issues meaningful to students ("Authentic Learning", 2013). One can also determine the authenticity of a learning practice by considering how much focus the approach affords to using knowledge rather than just retaining it. Where a traditional assignment typically requires students to remember exact details such as formulas or definitions when prompted, an authentic learning assignment depends less on finding the right process or result and instead prioritizes the thinking a student puts into setting up their approach. Authentic learning closely resembles the activities a student can expect to encounter outside the classroom; unlike in traditional assignments, students in the real world will have flexibility in how they approach problems and will often have the chance to try again when they fail. Authentic learning encompasses a range of practices rather than one single approach. The following sections describe some of the most prominent examples of authentic learning currently in schools.

2.1.1 Project-Based Learning

Of all the instructional practices considered authentic learning, project-based learning has gained the most traction in schools. In its simplest form, PBL uses projects completed over a significant period of time that require students to apply existing knowledge. Projects often involve complex thinking and typically have no singular correct way to complete. Besides exposing new ways to understand course material, PBL also emphasizes the development of non-cognitive skills since students must take more responsibility for their own learning (Shanbhag et al., 2020). PBL as a term can sometimes be misappropriated to describe assignments that do not fit into the other categories like tests or essays; these wrongly categorized projects, however, do not meet my definition of authentic learning as the strict directions that usually accompany them limit student's ability to tailor an assignment to their personal interests. Likewise, the structure of a project ultimately indicates whether we can rightfully consider it as PBL; ideally, students should have an active role in defining their problem of interest in PBL, and teachers should restrict their involvement to advising students as needed. With this stricter definition of PBL, we can identify more useful existence proofs of the practice.

With the growing interest in project-based learning in past decades, system-level efforts have developed to ensure that schools have resources available to support their implementations. PBLWorks has had some of the largest impact in assisting schools with their PBL programs. Founded in 1999, PBLWorks has produced research and training materials to aid teachers in creating sustainable, high-impact PBL experiences in their classes ("About PBLWorks", n.d.). Beyond direct support of teachers, PBLWorks has also proven the efficacy of PBL through its collaboration with large educational providers like the College Board. Seeing the rising momentum PBL has in education, the College Board wanted to learn how they could best integrate the practice into their products. PBLWorks helped them develop training for integrating PBL into the Advanced Placement programs. Currently, the College Board only provides official guidance on projects in the US Government and Politics and Environmental Science courses (Saavedra et al., 2021). Independent efforts, however, have also considered how PBL can fit into the other course offerings, with one article providing advice on how to set up a project that works well with the AP Psychology curriculum (Kuykendall, 2022). PBL has also become more prevalent among Open Educational Resources. The MIT BLOSSOMS project, which makes high quality video lessons openly available to teachers globally, embraced the PBL approach in its newest resources; their PBL materials complement some of their existing lesson plans and provide instructors guidance on how to structure projects so students can fully engage (Cammarata and Larson, 2018). As more providers consider how PBL could fit into their offerings, schools will find the practice easier to adopt.

2.1.2 Community-Based Learning

Community-based learning takes inspiration from PBL yet instead orients projects towards problems in the communities that represent the students. The definition of community here can be broad; students may choose to explore problems in their school, neighborhood, town, state, or even country or world. Regardless of the project location though, the practice engages students in authentic learning through deliberate connection to their daily lives. Related to community-based learning is service learning; they share a similar motivation of situating learning in scenarios where students address problems affecting their community. Community-based learning has uniquely shown strength in engaging underserved students in their courses; one study on the math achievement of Black male students revealed that students who were taught explicitly how the subject could help them improve their communities later performed better in the subject (McGee and Pearman, 2015). Focus groups with students have further supported community-based learning's unique ability to engage students, with participants repeatedly identifying giving back to their community as a priority in their lives (Martin and Fisher-Ari, 2021). Classrooms that can leverage this passion for community in lessons have an easy route to creating authentic learning experiences.

MIT BLOSSOMS provides a good example of the community and service focused learning described in the Flaws of Averages unit ("Flaws of Averages | MIT BLOSSOMS", n.d.). Students learn how averages can mislead the community's understanding of problems by developing projects related to community safety issues. After collecting data in their community about their problem, students return to the classroom to apply their statistical knowledge. At the end of the project, they present their findings and recommendations to community leaders involved with their chosen problem. Through this project, students of course strengthen their quantitative abilities, but more importantly, they can practice non-cognitive skills related to collaboration and professional communication. The importance of their projects to their communities means students have a more vested interest in its outcomes than the typical project.

MIT BLOSSOM's community safety project reflects a common approach many community organizations have started to apply to their youth development programs. La Colaborativa, a community organization focused on uplifting the Latine community of Chelsea, MA and greater Boston, has overseen numerous youth-led projects to improve their neighbors' quality of life ("About La Colaborativa", n.d.). Past youth advocacy work fostered by the organization includes organizing initiatives that promote fair housing and vaccination during the pandemic, speaking with lawmakers about the challenges facing their peers, and collecting data to inform community decision-making. In one project that could easily fit into MIT BLOSSOM's Flaws of Averages lesson plan, students in La Colaborativa's STEM internship program analyzed residents' use of a busy set of intersections and worked with their city politicians to recommend ways the streets could be improved to reduce congestion, increase pedestrian safety, and decrease air pollution ("Construction Updates", 2022). La Colaborativa illustrates one local success of putting students' learning to work on problems meaningful to their lives rather than on inauthentic ones presented on a worksheet.

2.1.3 Work-Based Learning

Work-based learning serves as my last example of authentic learning. While not novel in the scope of an individual's preparation for a career, internships and other forms of work study have gradually entered K-12 education to engage students. In a work placement, students begin to experience how they will translate their knowledge to their careers after they receive their diploma. Often, work-based learning will place students in jobs not normally associated with the average high school student. Rather than the part time restaurant job or seasonal gig during school breaks, a strong workbased learning program places students in positions that relate to their long-term goals. A future STEM professional, for example, could be placed with an engineer to help with drafting. Future medical professionals may instead find opportunities working alongside doctors and nurses in a clinic to develop their skills. These experiences tie together the two main components of authentic learning: real-life uses of knowledge and practice of non-cognitive skills. With a job that interests them, students will make connections with their learning currently absent in most classrooms. Their placement will also expose them to the norms of their future profession and help them visualize themselves in the field. The visualization that a student experiences in their placement can significantly increase a student's engagement in the classroom, with research showing that students feel more motivation to learn when they feel that they can reasonably achieve the goals they set for themselves (Dotson, 2016) Martin and Fisher-Ari, 2021). Work-based learning, however, can pose difficulties in implementing. Schools would need to develop connections with corporate partners and make sure they can offer high quality experiences to students. Class schedules would likely need adjusting to allow for students to work on-site at their placements. Like most authentic learning approaches, schools will likely need system-level changes first.

The existence proof for work-based learning comes from the Cristo Rey network of schools. Consisting of 38 private schools across 24 states insert citation, the Cristo Rey model emphasizes career readiness through its four-year corporate work study program ("Results", n.d.). All students that attend a Cristo Rey school get placed in a position with one of their many corporate partners. Job responsibilities have included research, communications, data collection, and process management, a variety that allows students to find a position that fits their interests and goals. For more realistic working experiences, students spend 5 full days a month in their placement; to facilitate this, the schools have adopted a shortened four-day class week, leaving the fifth day open for students to work with their partner. Mentorship also plays a key role in Cristo Rey's success; students have an adult contact with the corporate partner available to them throughout their placement, whether it be for job-specific questions or for more general inquiries related to the student's future career decisions. Cristo Rey students come from limited income upbringings, and the work study financially supports them, so they do not have to pay tuition. The school network has also demonstrated impressive results in improving their students' high school outcomes. In their Boston school, they consistently graduate 100% of their senior class each year. Across the network students are also more likely to enroll (85%) and complete college (39%) than their similarly situated peers (48%) and 15% respectively) ("Results", n.d.). Cristo Rey's spread across the country has helped them refine key systems like the corporate work study program, creating a good model for other schools to consider as they develop their own approaches to work-based learning.

2.2 Performance Assessment

Many more forms of authentic learning exist, and among those as well as the previously identified examples, the practices often rely on some form of performance

assessment. Whereas traditional assessments involve students recalling content they retained in response to set questions, performance assessment instead has students exhibit their skills via evidence they collect from a task they completed (Guha et al., 2018). Naturally, performance assessment synergizes well with authentic learning that situates instruction within real-world contexts. Performance assessment also frequently occurs as formative assessments. In contrast to summative assessments that occur at the end of a unit or term and cover all material taught in the time frame, formative assessments instead occur at more frequent intervals so that students can better judge their comprehension of material as they learn it ("Formative vs Summative Assessment - Eberly Center - Carnegie Mellon University", n.d.). With authentic learning covering topics over longer periods of time, formative performance assessments become critical for teachers needing to determine what areas students require additional support with. The value of performance assessment goes beyond the classroom as well, with many colleges and universities not considering how they could use the practice to assess a student's preparedness for advanced study. The Learning Policy Institute has made many of the advancements in establishing standards colleges could use for accepting performance assessments, and their work has secured commitments from many colleges to explore the future of the practice (Guha et al., 2018). CRESST at the University of California Los Angeles has made similar pushes for performance assessment, working with the UC admissions teams to develop a possible replacement for standardized tests as the university system chose to remove test scores from future application cycles ("CRESST Recommendation for New Assessment System for UC Admissions", 2020). Authentic learning will require massive changes across the education system to remain sustainable, allowing other practices like performance assessment to flourish.

2.3 Portfolios

The portfolios of interest to this thesis go beyond the simple collection of a student's work samples. Portfolios often have multiple purposes which can take priority over each other based on the current context. The most common purposes for portfolios in education are "the development, the assessment, and the documentation of qualifications" (Strohmeier, 2010):

- "Development-oriented portfolios" chronicle through time-sequenced artifacts the personal development of the author
- "Assessment-oriented portfolios" require a more discriminating selection of artifacts, highlighting those which best relate to specific learning objectives
- "Documentation-oriented portfolios" require discernment similar to that needed in "assessment-oriented portfolios" yet the author instead focuses on what artifacts exhibit qualities defined by a certain organization's objectives

Unlike authentic learning approaches which are still developing and have rarely operated at scale in larger school environments, portfolios have a lighter burden which has led to wider adoption across the education system. With some fields having long histories with using portfolios in learning, implementation has often relied on adapting the practices of one use to a new application. K-12 education has adopted portfolio approaches that found success in higher education, and higher education has used portfolios similar to those that graduates will experience in industry. Unfortunately, the implementation of portfolios can stay too shallow, focusing on simple storage of artifacts rather than true engagement of students. Portfolios must push students to dive deeper into learning through self-reflections and responses to feedback from teachers and mentors. This section explores the ways K12 and higher education as well as industry have expanded portfolios beyond a simple collection of artifacts; my purpose here is to highlight the key features that led to the success of these portfolio interpretations.

2.3.1 Existing Uses in K12 Education

Due to the simplicity of the practices, many schools have already implemented portfolios in some form. By definition, any collection of artifacts a student makes for class would comprise a portfolio. These simple portfolios, however, lack many of the features that would encourage more opportunities for authentic learning. The portfolios of true interest for developing this thesis are those where construction becomes part of the curriculum. Rather than using them simply as a place for storage, teachers that involve students' portfolios in instruction can maintain their students' engagement by discussing the relationships between current course material and their past experiences. Even the most involved uses of portfolios in the classroom can fall short though if the curriculum supporting them does not assist students with creating rich artifacts to collect. Exemplary use of portfolios can only be identified in conjunction with other effective practices, in this case authentic learning practices. The remainder of this section highlights some existing uses of portfolios in specific schools and throughout larger networks that exhibit the relationship between portfolios and authentic learning practices.

Envision Learning Partners (ELP) exemplify a school system that has implemented portfolios as a core educational practice. Comprising of schools across the US, ELP has embraced portfolios as part of their commitment to integrating performance assessment into instruction ("Portfolio Defense", 2021). Portfolios facilitate the process by creating a structure to retain artifacts and guide student reflection. Students use their portfolio as a guide for their learning during their schooling and as proof of their qualifications during their post-K12 pursuits. Unlike a written reflection, students capture the connections between their artifacts and their personal motivations through their presentation. Repeating this defense annually creates a chronicle of their development, and a student can exhibit how they have grown between defenses. Verbal reflections not only strengthen a student's communication skills, yet also may make learning more accessible to individuals who may at first struggle communicating their experiences in a written format (Huxham et al., 2012). The success of ELP's portfolio-defense approach would not be possible without the many authentic learning experiences students have access to at an Envision school; with the opportunity to complete work-based learning experiences and various performance assessments during their education, students will have a plethora of rich artifacts they can describe during their defense ("Our Approach", $\underline{n.d.}$). The ELP model has shown success in various communities, and with proper attention, their approach can help inspire needed systemic change to the education system.

At a system level, the Mastery Transcript Consortium has also demonstrated the value of connecting student abilities to evidential artifacts for improving student outcomes. The Mastery Transcript focus on a student's competencies over the courses they took and the grades they received ("Mastery Transcript $(\widehat{\mathbf{R}})$ and MTC Learning Record", 2019). Schools select the competencies they believe all graduates must minimally demonstrate. Students receive credits for these competencies by demonstrating their proficiency inside and outside of class. The student can also highlight artifacts representing their proficiency on their final transcript. The Mastery Transcript appears most similar to portfolios through this feature, as the transcript also becomes a collection of work samples the student can share with interested parties. When the student, for example, sends their Mastery Transcript with their college application, their admissions counselor can now see real-world examples of the competencies they purport to have. While radically different from the conventional transcripts, many colleges have openly expressed their cooperation with the Mastery Transcript, expressing that students attending consortium schools will face no detriment compared to their peers (Montes, 2021). Again, the success of this portfolio interpretation depends on the quality of experiences a student accesses; multiple choice tests, while evidence of a student's competencies, provide less depth than authentic learning artifacts. The Mastery Transcript, like other portfolios, has shown, however, to be a good incentive for schools to integrate more authentic learning into the curriculum.

Portfolios have also played a critical role in integrating authentic learning in the AP program as discussed earlier. AP Studio Art has the most obvious reason for the inclusion of a portfolio because of the subject's long use of portfolio reviews in its pedagogy (this history is discussed in further detail in later sections of this chapter). AP would later include a portfolio in their Computer Science Principles exam to allow students more autonomy in how they demonstrate their newly acquired programming knowledge; in this iteration of portfolios, students submit a long-term project of their

choice to be evaluated by their instructor against a common rubric (The College Board, 2018). Students have complete control over the scope, details, and technology used in the project, and many schools have integrated community- and work-based learning into their instruction for the class. The AP Capstone Diploma includes portfolios in its two-course sequence, AP Seminar and AP Research; students taking these courses complete individual and team research projects which they document through artifacts in their digital portfolio ("AP Capstone Diploma Program – AP Central | College Board", n.d.). Finally, AP collaborates with the WE Service program to add service-learning to other existing AP courses which they evaluate through a portfolio review. This community-based approach to authentic learning is documented by the student throughout the term and stored again in their digital portfolio for their instructor to verify (The College Board, 2020). AP's recent steps to integrate authentic learning into more of their offerings will likely continue to include portfolios as the practice works well with the performance assessment they would need to implement.

State governments have also taken action to encourage the creation of portfolios as part of a school's graduation requirements. Colorado, for example, has encouraged high schools to adopt proficiency-based practices like capstone projects and portfolios as part of their local graduation requirements. To support their schools that have chosen to adopt these practices as part of their local requirements, districts have developed their own "Profiles of Graduates" to guide students on what skills they need to develop to graduate (Spicer, 2019). Cañon City High School exemplifies such a graduate profile that has made education more engaging for students there (Quirk et al., 2020). Colorado's role in implementing portfolios in schools has remained advisory as they have yet to require the practice in all schools, but some states have taken action to ensure student's portfolios can be formally recognized. Through diploma seals, Ohio high school students can demonstrate their achievements beyond the minimum requirements ("Demonstrating Readiness | Graduation Seals", n.d.). Each diploma seal has its own set of standards to receive related to the nature of the seal. The "College-Ready" seal requires students to score high enough on either the ACT or SAT to place into college-level coursework, whereas the "Seal of Biliteracy"

requires demonstrating mastery of a language other than English on a standardized test. Not all seals depend on test scores though, with many seal requirements sharing features with portfolios. For the "OhioMeanJobs-Readiness" seal, students work with a mentor to select evidence of their behavior in and out of class that demonstrates their proficiency in 14 professional skills ("Demonstrating Readiness | Graduation Seals", n.d.). Many of Ohio's Honors Diploma seals also require students to collect evidence from a field experience in a portfolio as it relates to the topics that they are interested in. The flexibility allowed in the diploma seal's portfolio requirements means that students can select the experiences that most engage them rather than follow a one-size-fits-all pathway towards graduation. As will be discussed later in Chapter 5, policy action provides the most direct way to encourage schools to adopt the proposal, and with Colorado and Ohio leading in regard to portfolios, other states have strong foundations for their own system designs.

2.3.2 Existing Uses in Higher Education

Higher education has taken greater steps than K-12 education to implement systems that demonstrate the potential authentic learning portfolios have for education. Most efforts to integrate into the classroom practices like those required for authentic learning portfolios have occurred within disciplines that have historically invested in student's practical experience. Arts and design fields have long been closely associated with portfolios; the portfolio for an art student is not only an opportunity to develop their technical skills in a medium but also an exhibition of their unique point of view as well as their specific approach to the design process (Taylor, 2010). As a result, "portfolio literacy" has become a critical component of a student's education in many arts programs (Barnes et al., 2022).

Portfolios have also been used to support programs with many authentic learning experiences already present in their curricula. Certain service professions, namely nursing and teaching, use forms of workforce learning in their curricula to help prepare students for on-the-job responsibilities which require more than theoretical training. Clinical education for medical professionals and student teaching in education pro-
grams both exemplify rich authentic learning experiences which K-12 schools can use as inspiration for their own programming. In recent decades, portfolios have grown in popularity in these programs as a way to encourage further reflection on student's experiences. Teacher education programs have specifically found use of portfolios, with many programs highlighting how the practice has helped students better prepare for finding employment after graduation (Boody and Montecinos, 1997). The use of portfolios in teacher education makes sense since numerous studies have shown how the type of reflection fostered by portfolios can help new teachers better prepare for the challenges they will face in their early years in the profession (Shandomo, 2010). While not all fields can support the level of authentic learning that occurs in these professional programs, other programs would likely still benefit from adopting pedagogy that encourages students to reflect on how course content connects to the real-world situations they may encounter after graduation.

Higher education institutions have also experimented with using portfolios beyond the lecture halls as part of their admission processes. Due to their history of using portfolio-like practices in the classroom, art, design, architecture, and performing arts programs typically require a portfolio exhibiting a student's artistic ability in their application. The artifacts provided by a student often supplant their grades and test scores, yet some institutions still may require an assessment of minimum academic ability due to the rigor of their general education requirements (Hoover, 2015) O'Donoghue, 2011). Design programs, specifically architecture, look at a student's artifacts to understand the applicant's design processes and unique aesthetics, something other programs like engineering may want to replicate (Limpatoudis, 2020). Whereas the other programs experienced with portfolio use in the classroom mentioned previously (nursing and teaching) have yet to require a portfolio in their applications, a portfolio could help prospective students exhibit qualifications uniquely required by their program. By considering how portfolios can help select applicants well-suited for their rigorous authentic learning environment, these programs can further improve their approaches to admissions.

Colleges of all types often use major-related interests to make the final decision

between similarly exemplary students, yet unfortunately, current applications fall short of allowing students to demonstrate the breadth and depth of their interest. While a student could list their work and extracurricular activities that relate to their field of study, the nuances of their experience may be lost if they fail to provide sufficient detail or expand on their experiences in their personal statement. Some colleges recognize this shortcoming and try to overcome it by accepting a student's supplementary materials. Supplemental materials often accepted include artistic or performance-related artifacts a student may have otherwise included in their portfolio to an arts program. Highly competitive colleges like Harvard also encourage students to provide any creative writing selections or research publications an applicant feels provide context to their application ("Application Requirements", n.d.). MIT in 2015 advanced their supplementary material section to better reflect the technical interests of their students by introducing the "maker portfolio" as a place for students "to showcase their projects that require creative insight, technical skill, and a hands-on approach to learning by doing" ("Creative portfolios", n.d.). Other schools, including Washington University in St. Louis and Tufts University, have followed MIT's example to offer similar avenues for students to demonstrate their technical abilities in pursuit of admission to their engineering programs ("Portfolio Reviews - Undergraduate Admissions | Washington University in St. Louis", n.d., "School of Engineering", n.d.). University of Michigan has advanced their definition of supplemental materials to support the unique needs of its business school; by requiring students interested in direct admission to the undergraduate business degree to submit a reflection on a business case as well as an artifact that connects the applicant's learning to their life, the Ross School of Business has found a new way to benefit applicants to benefit students that go above and beyond to demonstrate their interest in the highly competitive field (Rideout, 2022; Willis and Martinez, 2023). Despite these successes in using the preferred practices of this thesis to support institutional goals, the existing uses described above also reveal challenges that an authentic learning portfolio system in K-12 education will still need to overcome.

The primary challenge for colleges interested in using authentic learning and port-

folios remains that these practices are hard to operate at scale. While authentic learning and portfolios greatly benefit some post-secondary curricula, these programs also often operate with small class sizes and high direct attention from instructors to achieve their success. Many K-12 environments face resource constraints and difficulties recruiting teachers that would hinder their ability to implement programs like the existence proofs identified above. Schools would need the flexibility to adapt the practice to work best in their environment. The scalability of portfolios poses the largest challenge of integrating portfolios more widely in the system. Few schools have adopted the practice, meaning many colleges would still need to develop in their processes before they would feel comfortable adopting portfolios as a requirement. Schools that have experimented with portfolios would also need to develop their capacity to review portfolios efficiently; with portfolio leader MIT only receiving maker portfolios from less than 10% of applicants in recent years, their current faculty-driven review process would likely struggle with providing timely reviews for a full applicant pool of more than 33,000 (Peterson and Abelson, 2015). One final concern based on higher education's experiences lies in whether all students would have an equitable opportunity to put a competitive portfolio together if they were used at scale. The current uses of portfolios depend on students having access to experiences that produce artifacts that college admissions readers will find compelling.

2.3.3 Existing Uses in Workforce

The use of portfolios by industry, another stakeholder group important to education reforms, can also help define the goals and challenges affecting the implementation of educational portfolios. In general, industry has used portfolios to evaluate candidates for hire, with their implementations most closely resembling Strohmeier's assessmentand documentation-centered portfolios described ealier (Strohmeier, 2010); these professional portfolios consist of artifacts chosen by applicant to indicate their proficiency in skills required for a position as well as exhibit their possession of other posted qualifications. Portfolios can stand by themselves in the hiring process, yet more often, they serve as a support to one's interviews or as a part of the hiring manager's review of past work. Portfolios offer applicants an efficient way to collect, organize, and distribute this information to hiring managers. Hiring managers, in turn, have shown their support towards the practice. In one recent study, 75% of respondents involved with hiring decisions found portfolios as potentially useful (Holtzman et al., 2021). Growing use of portfolios for talent development and recruiting supports the practice's possible usefulness for K-12 instruction and assessment.

Though portfolios have shown great potential to support hiring, use remains limited to select fields. Ambivalence towards the practice by some recruiters explains some of the practice's restrained use as recruiters have limited incentive to transition unless portfolios can fulfill specific organizational needs (Strohmeier, 2010). Portfolios may also face implementation difficulties in fields that do not already rely on using work samples and other authentic demonstrations of qualities in their hiring processes. This latter explanation of portfolio's still limited use in industry is supported by the sectors that have shown favorability toward them; surveys have shown that the art, design, engineering, and human service sectors have all demonstrated more favorable views towards using portfolios in hiring (Holtzman et al., 2021). Regardless of the reason for the limited use, portfolios in the workforce have generally succeeded when specific standards could be established for what a portfolio should consist of, something that has been easier for some positions than others. K-12 education has similarly struggled with identifying standards that reflect society's differing views of the purpose of education and what skills and qualities should be prioritized. With the most successful implementations of portfolios considering the needs of the organizations that will eventually review them, cooperation between industry and education can lead to standards that benefit all stakeholders (Ward and Moser, 2008). The remainder of this chapter explores how the sectors most supportive of portfolios, specifically art and design, software engineering, and human services, approach using portfolios to achieve their unique requirements.

Art and Design

Art and design portfolios have a long history in supporting hiring decisions. The previously mentioned push for "portfolio literacy" in fact came out of a necessity to prepare young artists for professional advancement highly dependent on the quality of their portfolios (Barnes et al., 2022). Portfolios primarily support hiring for positions in arts and design by exhibiting an individual's technical abilities, either in a specific artistic form or in the tools required by the discipline (Taylor, 2010). Secondarily yet not less in importance, the art portfolio also captures the thinking an artist puts into all stages of the design process. This balance of exhibiting both cognitive and non-cognitive qualities in a portfolio will be critical for a system like the one to be proposed that intends to support authentic learning in the classroom. Of all the other sectors that have adopted portfolios, the art and design fields provide the richest examples for education to use as models for their own system as portfolios' long use in their hiring has allowed them to also be embedded deeply in their education programs. As mentioned prior, art teachers often use the same methods to evaluate a student's development-centered portfolio as their future supervisors will (Taylor, 2010). The only concern raised for artistic portfolios comes from the split focus between learning and presenting one's best self to future employers that often occurs during art education (AIGA Designer 2025, Why Design Education Should Pay Attention to Trends. 2017; Barnes et al., 2022; Davis, 2012; Harland, 2011; R. Kelly, 2018). The most compelling portfolios for education will show the totality of a student's development, including both their successes and failures. By embedding the practice into both learning and assessment though, a portfolio system could undermine the authentic learning it aims to foster by incentivizing students to pursue experiences that they perceive will improve their admissions or hiring odds. Looking back to the existing uses in education, the future system architecture must reprioritize the learning fostered by a portfolio over the incentives that evaluation of the portfolio will create.

Software Engineering

Portfolio use in software engineering offers an interpretation of the practice that could address many of the concerns raised by art portfolios. While Github and similar code repositories initially served the utilitarian purpose of maintaining a developer's work, they have recently been recontextualized by many companies as a documentationcentered portfolio. Since many companies already reviewed code samples to determine an applicant's fit for a position, requesting personal repositories already containing many viable samples seemed natural. Managers in software development specifically highlight the "tangible evidence of [an applicant] having done something substantial" as a primary reason they ask for a code repository (Weiss, 2018). Additionally, training on building a code repository already exists in software development education, albeit the training focuses more on the technicalities of the platform rather than the "portfolio literacy" developed in art programs. The most compelling reason, however, to use code repositories as inspiration for a future portfolio system in K12 education comes from the indirect way in which a code repository can capture a developer's non-cognitive qualities. A code repository often provides functionality far beyond the storage of artifacts; the platform will usually also track the history of changes to a user's work, indicate contributions to other organizations or individuals' projects, and allow for peers to provide feedback on an individual's projects. The savvy reviewer can use the abundance of metadata generated by a student's interaction with their repository to evaluate less tangible qualities of an applicant like their fit within a company culture or their ability to work on a fast-paced team (Marlow and Dabbish, [2013]). To save on time, data aggregators can automate the process to reveal key insights about the repository, improving efficiency as well as making the process harder to manipulate by keeping historical records of changes (Sarma et al., 2016). By developing a system that records metadata useful to future evaluations, the future portfolio system can start to handle the incentives created by existing implementations.

Human Services

While the previous workforce examples cover many of the issues faced by existing uses of portfolios in education, they still fall short due to both sectors allowing for the creation of numerous physical artifacts which exhibit a student's cognitive and noncognitive qualities. Authentic learning practices do not always, however, inspire artifacts that perfectly capture both. For example, consider the artifacts generated by a student's work-based learning. Positions in technical fields such as engineering will likely generate numerous artifacts that exhibit quantitative skills and critical thinking, yet more service-centered positions like in healthcare or education may not offer similar opportunities. The artifacts generated in these types of positions (i.e. correspondences, presentations, worklogs) capture the student's qualities imperfectly and will likely require additional context to truly evaluate. Since the portfolio systems in the previously discussed sectors are unequipped to handle this shortcoming, additional examples must be sought out. Fortunately, the human services sector, namely teaching and nursing, have made their own interpretations of portfolios to use in hiring.

In recent years, principals have looked to portfolios as one way to predict how teacher candidates work when brought into the classroom. With teacher instructors already favoring the practice, preservice teachers can easily provide the collection to future employers to review (Whitworth et al., 2016). The teachers' collections consist of both in-class and real-world experiences and typically include lesson materials, support plans, observation materials, and positive interactions with students, parents, and colleagues (Whitworth et al., 2016). These artifacts often show how teachers will approach managing their classroom and preparing engaging lessons, thus principals often choose to have teachers highlight their most compelling artifacts during an interview or as part of a live simulation rather than review the portfolio in totality. By reviewing portfolios in this fashion, principals appear to find most value in the teacher's reflection on their development, a critical step in the creation of their portfolios with their teacher instructors (Whitworth et al., 2016). In one survey, prin-

cipals specifically noted that they found an applicant's reflection on artifacts in their portfolio particularly useful in interviews (D. Kelly and Hancock, 2018). Principals very often lack the time to conduct a thorough review of a portfolio, so by focusing on the teacher's reflections, they can identify the artifacts most critical to understanding an applicant's qualification out of the exhaustive collections they frequently receive (Theel and Tallerico, 2004) Whitworth et al., 2016). Encouraging reflection during portfolio creation appears then to be a critical component to a portfolio system when wanting to put artifacts in the context of the student's broader development.

Nursing has similarly adopted portfolios as an evidence-supported exhibition of an applicant's human-service related skills. Leading use for certifications, the United Kingdom, New Zealand, Australia, and Canada have implemented portfolios that include typical application materials like resumes and letters of recommendation along with artifacts from the student's clinical and scholarly experiences (Meister L et al., (2002). Nurses, like teachers, also include written reflections to provide a similar context to their experiences. These reflections again help hiring managers select the best candidates for their healthcare organization from pools of high achieving applicants with otherwise similar credentials (McMillan et al., 2014). Nursing portfolios though have gone even further than those used in other human service fields by considering artifacts as part of licensing and certification processes. The above-mentioned countries all use portfolios during certification, making artifact discernment and selfreflection essential to the pursuit of a nursing career (Meister L et al., 2002). Much of the review done by the hiring manager can then be focused on the unique attributes of an applicant's portfolio as the certifying body would have already confirmed the nurse's technical qualifications during their review. Using an independent organization to verify a student's cognitive abilities, much like a certifying board evaluates a nurse's professional abilities, would not be new to education as standardized tests like the SAT and ACT are de facto certifications of preparedness for college in many admissions processes. Similarly, AP and IB provide an independent verification of a student's understanding of a college-level curriculum. With the organizations behind these tests experimenting with how portfolios could support their processes, the nursing portfolio offers a reasonable model for a portfolio in K-12 education that supports a standardized review process.

Lessons from Existing Uses

In looking at the existing uses of portfolios both in and out of education, a common conflict between a portfolio's different goals materializes. Specifically, the learning facilitated by portfolios diminishes when students manipulate their submissions to perform better in assessments or evaluations. Portfolios, however, do not struggle in this conflict alone, as concern over this manipulation affects almost all social indicators; Campbell's Law provides a formal definition for this widely prevalent struggle (Campbell, 1979). Highly visible examples of Campbell's law have occurred in education in recent years, the greatest of which being Operation Varsity Blues exposing private college counselor actions to manipulate transcripts, test scores, and activity records to secure college admission (Kasakove, 2021). Addressing this conflict in the proposed portfolio system poses no easy task, yet evaluation regimes that support learning rather than oppose exist.

Evaluating non-cognitive qualities after establishing minimum cognitive competency offers one way of discouraging manipulation. As seen in the nursing portfolios, once a body certifies a candidate's minimum qualifications, hiring managers have freedom to differentiate candidates based on their unique attributes. Unlike standardized tests which often have scores higher than what they deem proficient, applicants differentiated themselves based on their non-cognitive qualities rather than the arbitrary differences between their scores. The different implementations of the portfolio also show that the presentation of non-cognitive qualities can be harder to manipulate when the platform requires the student to exhibit the quality consistently over their submissions. Consider the data aggregators of coding repositories; a candidate demonstrates qualities like collaboration and perseverance through the history of their contributions, something not easily replicated by a candidate seeking to artificially craft their portfolio to manipulate the system. Not all aspects of a portfolio can resist manipulation; for example, a student could try to go back and change their reflections to exhibit a quality they did not develop until later in their academic career. A process that rewards going beyond the minimum, however, could discourage such attempts at manipulation and push students to engage learning with their unique interests.

Success of the proposed portfolio system will also depend on defining construction standards relevant to the specific contexts it will be used in. Each of the workforce examples considered followed certain expectations from the sectors. These standards, while adhering to similar themes, differ vastly between disciplines; art and design portfolios need to document an individual's mastery of forms and their unique aesthetics, whereas software portfolios emphasize adherence to industry standards and best practices over creativity. Education portfolios instead will need to support learning and self-reflection when used in the classroom and exhibition of qualifications when used in a job or college application. Professional portfolios also demonstrate an applicant's passion for the field they work in. When constructing their portfolio, a professional will have numerous artifacts relevant to their specific field, and their reviewer will likely have the needed background knowledge to evaluate its merits. Students still early in their development will unfortunately lack this specificity when constructing their portfolios. As a result, evaluators will need flexibility to handle the diversity of artifacts they will receive. Standards will need to still establish a definition of minimum competency, yet they cannot restrict students so much that they again focus on the conditions of their evaluation more than their personal learning. Additionally, students will have artifacts shaped by their specific learning environment, and evaluators will need ways to compare students on the qualities of the student rather than the quality of the experiences. A student in a city or suburb, for example, may have more access to formal opportunities through colleges or corporations, whereas a rural student may instead have to rely on local business or their own ingenuity to supplement their learning. The education portfolio will need to allow for both the career-focused and the undecided student to succeed, regardless of the capacity of their school and community.

Finally, the existing uses of portfolios further demonstrate the time and resource

barriers many organizations will face trying to review submissions. In each application discussed above, organizations found ways to simplify portfolios to allow for a more efficient review. The existing K-12 uses succeeded since reviews occurred among smaller batches of portfolios, either at a classroom level for reviews of specific course knowledge or at the school level when looking more generally at preparedness for graduation. When large batches of portfolios have needed to be reviewed in education, like during an AP assessment or as part of the college admission process, the batch size typically stays low since portfolios were restricted to a specific subject or type of artifact. These education examples unfortunately cannot support the proposed portfolio system which aims to collect artifacts from across a student's experience and used at scale throughout the education ecosystem. Here, the workforce uses of portfolios provide the best models. Either through human-driven review like that done by nurse certification bodies or the automated evaluation now being done on coding repositories, portfolio systems could benefit from an external entity evaluating a student's portfolio.

2.4 The Synergy Between Authentic Learning and Portfolios

As mentioned in the introduction, portfolios depend heavily on the quality of the artifacts that students produce. When used in the traditional setting, portfolios will primarily consist of tests, essays, and similar assignments oriented in artificial environments that offer little depth to the abilities presented. In contrast, authentic learning by its nature has students demonstrate their abilities in a natural environment, and as a result, the artifacts created often provide clearer examples of how the student can use their abilities to respond to real-life situations. The artifacts produced by authentic learning exhibit skills in practice rather than just in theory. An additional benefit of authentic learning experiences for portfolios is that they often capture aspects of a student's non-cognitive development better than traditional

artifacts. The activities students complete in an authentic learning require students to demonstrate creativity, cooperation, and resilience, mindsets often not used fully in a traditional assignment. Conversely, authentic learning practices can benefit from portfolios because the structure facilitated by the collection of artifacts provides a framework more conducive for evaluation of this learning compared to traditional assessments. Authentic learning by design lacks strict guidelines and rubrics to allow students of unique backgrounds to adapt an assignment to their interests. Students may choose different learning opportunities, yet when considering the skills and mindsets they need to employ, the distinct experience can easily exhibit the same set of abilities. Take for example the graduation standard of learning algebra: a student could demonstrate skills related to this standard by predicting a ball's trajectory for a physics project or by determining the order quantity for a product in their internship, two equally effective ways of demonstrating proficiency. Portfolios require an evaluation that considers an artifact in its context, much like how many authentic learning experiences need to be assessed. Together, portfolio and authentic learning approaches amplify each other's benefits to student learning.

Chapter 3

Initial System Architecture Proposal

This section describes an initial system architecture for combining authentic learning practices and portfolios to improve the US education system. The ARIES framework developed by Deborah Nightingale and Donna Rhodes helps structure the development of a transformed enterprise^T into ten elements: Ecosystem, Stakeholders, Strategy, Information, Infrastructure, Products, Services, Knowledge, Organization, and Process (Nightingale and Rhodes, 2015). The initial architecture of the authentic learning portfolio enterprise integrates aspects of existing applications of portfolios and authentic learning experiences as well as best practices from published literature, and I used it as the initial basis for conversations with stakeholders. Prior to interviews and further case study work, the potential shortcomings of this system architecture were identified to determine what evidence would be needed to support this design for wider implementation.

3.1 Ecosystem

Our proposed enterprise will operate in the broader US K-12 education ecosystem. While the stakeholder groups will be discussed more in-depth in the next section,

¹An enterprise in the ARIES framework has multiple meanings, including "*organization, firm, establishment, company*", yet for the purposes of my thesis, I will be using the term to describe multi-stakeholder effort to achieve a common set of goals (Nightingale and Rhodes, [2015])

the main organizational types I consider inside the ecosystem include the schools, which provide learning, and the entities that aim to leverage students' learning to achieve their goals. External to the ecosystem are entities, both formal in the case of governments and informal in the case of parents and the community, that observe the performance of the internal organizations. The external observers have varied goals, yet their purpose can generally be characterized as accountability, ensuring that learning outcomes meet their expectations. As for the policy landscape, the education system in the US reflects federalism with much of the decision-making that affects the system occurring at the local level, with the state governments making decisions about standards and funding, and with the federal government leveraging limited influence on the system through grant initiatives (Pelsue, 2017). The education ecosystem is also shaped by both economic and social factors in determining what kind of learning should occur. Economically speaking, the system aims to prepare students for careers after they exit school. In some cases, post-secondary education is required, yet employers generally exert the most influence in determine what skills are taught. Socially speaking, schools also prepare students to be active participants in society, and thus, certain competencies and qualities, such as timeliness, strong communication, and collaboration, are also prioritized in education. Notably, the economic influences often dictate the cognitive skills prioritized while the social influences impact the non-cognitive skills taught, with the interactions between cognitive and non-cognitive abilities reflecting how economic and social factors impact each other. Overall though, the ecosystem brings together groups which decide the qualities young people should have, implement the best ways to develop these qualities, and then evaluate students to ensure they achieve these qualities before they exit the system.

3.2 Stakeholders

The stakeholders in the education system play critical roles that will determine the success of the enterprise. While in the definition of the education ecosystem I divided

the stakeholders into groups based on whether they were internal or external to the system, the remainder of the system architecture considers them at equal footing because they have similar importance in determining whether implementation can succeed. Among all the stakeholders, the following have the most influence on the system:

- K-12 Education Entities: the schools and districts/governing bodies that manage them; provide the educational environment for students
- Higher Education Institutions: provide an instructional environment for some students after they graduate; more importantly for the enterprise, select students for admissions based on internal preparedness standards
- Hiring Managers/Employers: select students to hire based on their internal qualification requirements/preferences
- Government Education Agencies: review the performance of K-12 Education entities, and some Higher Education Entities, and issue incentives/consequences to achieve policy goals; exist at both state and federal levels

These stakeholders differ in the salience they have to the enterprise. Using Ronald Mitchell's model of stakeholder salience (Mitchell et al., 1997), K-12 Education Entities can be classified as "Dependent" stakeholders because they both have legitimate and urgent claims to change the system, yet under current policy, has less power to influence the decision. Mitchell's model would classify Higher Education Institutions as "Dominant" stakeholders because they have both powerful and legitimate claims to encourage the enterprise, yet they may lack urgency to change if not given the proper conditions. Next, we can classify Hiring Managers and Employers as "Discretionary" stakeholders as they have, due to their operations being dependent on the output of the previous two groups, a legitimate claim towards changes, yet lack formal power to encourage other stakeholders and may have less urgency if their needs are currently met. Finally, Government Education Agencies and other groups which manage the

school system would be the sole "Definitive" stakeholders as they maintain the formal power, legitimacy, and urgency to enact the systemic changes needed for the enterprise to succeed.

Additional stakeholder groups to consider in the stakeholder salience model include community members, parents, and students as while they may not have direct roles in implementing the system, their support is critical to its success. Based on their current position in the ecosystem, these groups would likely be classified as "Dangerous" stakeholders since they generally have power through their financial and political influence as well as urgency to support a successful system, yet often lack formal legitimacy in the decision-making process (Mitchell et al., 1997). This group in recent years has shown a more active interest in getting involved with system-wide decisions, as demonstrated by the increased participation in school board meetings and education-related legislation efforts (Sawchuk, 2021). Without legitimacy in the process, however, they can create obstructions to well-intentioned efforts to improve the system, like in the case of Maine's attempted performance-based graduation standards. A full stakeholder salience map can be found in Figure 3-1.

3.3 Strategy

The overall vision of the proposed enterprise is to prepare students for success in their careers and personal lives as they face the world's growing challenges. The enterprise will strategically do this through system-wide efforts that foster more authentic learning experiences in classrooms, transition towards authentic assessment approaches, and consider the unique operational challenges faced in different community landscapes to make the system more accessible to all students. To achieve these strategic objectives, the enterprise will use portfolios as a facilitator for other changes needed to support the enterprise's success. The proposal aims to broadly change the whole US education system, requiring critical stakeholders to play specific roles in implementing the strategy. In the initial design for this project, the system's main stakeholders will serve the following purposes:



Figure 3-1: Stakeholder salience map for authentic learning portfolios.

- K-12 Education Entities: help students populate and prepare their portfolios, evaluate portfolios to aid with instruction
- Higher Education Institutions: set standards for use in determining college readiness, provide support to students in constructing portfolios to meet standards, evaluate portfolios for college entrance/admission
- Hiring Managers/Employers: set standards for use in determining workforce readiness, evaluate portfolios for hiring decision
- Government Education Agencies: set standards for use in determining graduation readiness, assess portfolio as a school accountability measure

3.4 Information

Authentic learning artifacts make up the most important information used within this proposed enterprise. Artifacts here specifically denote any physical or digital product created by an experience contributing to a student's overall development. A non-exhaustive list of examples includes documents, correspondence, presentations, photos, and videos, yet the actual artifacts will depend on the nature of the experience. A student will primarily select artifacts produced by in-class experiences, especially when their school uses one or more authentic learning approaches. Project-based learning is particularly conducive to creating useful artifacts as it often involves a variety of work products that document the student's thought process through the course of the project. Artifacts need not be only from in-class activities though; students learn many of their non-cognitive skills through their extracurricular activities as well (Carolan, 2018). The enterprise should then also allow for the use of work examples from outside the classroom to present the full narrative of a student's development. These artifacts may require additional validation as they lack the implicit trust given to in-class assessments, yet for many students, they may better represent their abilities as they often will directly connect to their interests.

Artifacts alone, however, will not provide all the information the enterprise needs to offer its services, so the portfolio infrastructure should also include written reflections from the students that contextualize the other artifacts with the student's broad developmental narrative. A written reflection will further display a student's thought processes and capture aspects of their non-cognitive development missing from the work examples. Metacognition, the concept of how an individual thinks about how they think, is one of the most important non-cognitive qualities reflections will reinforce and exhibit; studies show that strong metacognition is often correlated with other positive student outcomes such as higher high school and college completion (Gabrieli et al., 2015). The reflections are also a piece of information that makes each student's portfolio unique to them. Students may include similar artifacts due to them having similar experiences, yet the reflection allows each to explain the unique impacts the experience had on their development. Truly, the reflections become some of the most important information during the evaluation process as they can help guide the evaluator on how to approach the artifacts collected. Rather than guess what each artifact shows about the student, an evaluator can use a reflection to identify what the student believes the artifact demonstrates and thus assign an appropriate rubric to it.

While the artifacts will provide much of the insight into student qualifications during portfolio reviews, metadata resulting from storage of the portfolio can support certain conclusions about students as well. Using applications developed to parse coding repositories as inspiration, the enterprise needs to develop methods that extract key insights from metadata. In the coding repository examples, applications used metadata collected when a developer contributed to a project to track an applicant's commitment to projects, level of engagement with the community, perceived quality of contributions, and even the extent to which the developer uses their listed skills (Marlow and Dabbish, 2013). In the parallel case of undergraduate admissions, applications could use metadata from portfolios to identify the breadth and depth of a student's contribution to group efforts and measure the quality of their engagement rather than just relying on the length of their involvement. This metadata approach can rely on the growing literature on learning analytics to support its development (Ferguson, 2012). Specifically, metadata-based approaches would benefit from identifying the actionable insights the data could provide first rather than just unguided looking for correlations in the data. The most useful applications of the information collected in the enterprise would leverage research to validate the meaning of its correlations, thus any implementation of the enterprise must first go through rigorous evaluation to prove the validity of its conclusions.

3.5 Infrastructure

The portfolio provides the critical infrastructure needed for this enterprise by facilitating the persistence of artifacts past their usefulness in a specific classroom. The design of the portfolio infrastructure takes inspiration from Richard Larson and Soheil Sibdari's proposal in "From Rote to Wrote: College Admissions via Secure ePortfolios". In the Larson-Sibdari implementation of portfolios, students annually submit work examples along with written reflections contextualizing the artifacts contemporaneously over their four years of high school, creating a multi-year record of their cognitive development (Larson and Sibdari, 2020). Teachers or other schoolassociated adults then certify portfolio additions before storing the collection on a remote, secure server to ensure student honesty and portfolio integrity. They orient their infrastructure towards the needs of college admissions who can then consider student's artifacts as complements, and even substitutes, to existing parts of their admissions application. This iteration of the enterprise expands the potential use cases of the portfolios to also include review by teachers, accountability organizations, and employers. As a result, the portfolio infrastructure will need to allow fluidity in how collections are presented so multiple purposes can be achieved.

While portfolios have long-existed as physical collections, digital ePortfolios better serve the strategic objectives of the enterprise. With more students connected with technology at home, ePortfolios pose less physical burden by eliminating the need for storage of physical artifacts. Additionally, ePortfolios can interface better into stakeholders' existing processes; rather than having to send a physical collection of artifacts to each entity the student chooses, an ePortfolio allows them to simply send a link to their repository and give immediate access. Finally, ePortfolios offer an increased sense of the security and integrity about a student's portfolio. This benefit appears even more important in recent years following many major scandals surrounding admissions fraud. Exemplified by the Varsity Blues investigation, increased attention has been given to the embellishment and manipulation of measures of academic ability (Kasakove, 2021). As for specific security measures, the ePortfolio infrastructure should:

- Provide a minimum level of trust that they cannot be tampered with through storage on a remote, secure server: Schools then will have less responsibility to prevent intrusions and systems can be more uniformly operated across districts.
- Control read and write access that only students can write artifacts to their portfolios and all users have read-only access to artifacts after

they are added: With these policies enforced, evaluators can have confidence that artifacts originate from the students and that they were not manipulated at a later date.

• Verified artifacts as authentic student work before submission to a portfolio: This process, described in further detail later in the system design, will require a school-vetted adult familiar with the student's background to confirm the included work reflects the student's abilities and mindsets.

3.6 Products and Services

Portfolios provide necessary infrastructure for the enterprise, yet they also serve as the primary product of the operation as well. A student's completed portfolio can act as a representation of their educational journey and as evidence of the skills and mindsets they bring to the challenges they encounter. While not a physical product, students will have ownership of their collections and can use them as they see fit to help accomplish their goals. In this way, portfolios will act very much like a certificate students may have normally received from completing a course or education program. A portfolio can certainly include their diploma and other certificates of accomplishment, yet their collection of artifacts goes further than just indicating they met certain standards. An interested party can investigate a student's portfolio to see examples of them using their knowledge in action. Additionally, they can see the unique approaches and processes that a student employs to solve a problem and understand how their cognitive and non-cognitive abilities relate and interact. Despite all its possible uses, a portfolio has little value unless parties have the capacity to use them; this enterprise architecture must also consider the services that can utilize a portfolio.

The enterprise's services will consist of the actions through which stakeholders contribute to the strategic objectives: foster authentic learning experiences, transition to authentic assessments, and improve access to quality education across localities and student backgrounds. Primarily, the enterprise will serve students through the authentic learning experiences it encourages. As previously mentioned, portfolios do not improve education alone; they require complementary practices which generate artifacts that capture the breadth of a student's qualities. The enterprise can provide this needed service by connecting stakeholders with the knowledge generated, which will be discussed in depth in a later section, on the best ways to bring authentic learning into the classroom. Through the schools, these efforts can then produce improvements to learning outcomes and help students develop the qualities they need for success.

Beyond learning, the enterprise also serves higher education, workforce, and accountability stakeholders by offering alternative evaluation and assessment methods. The enterprise provides this service primarily through the actions of the relevant stakeholders, yet it may require the creation of additional organizations with the sole purpose of producing useful evaluations of portfolios. Internally, stakeholders will need to adjust their evaluation processes to accommodate the new variety of information they will have access to. The process need not be a manual one, with recent advances in artificial intelligence for college admissions and hiring showing valuable, albeit controversial, progress (Burke, 2020; Chen, 2023). Regardless of whether an entities chooses man or machine for its process, determining their approach early in adopting is of utmost priority as it will likely impact their ability to achieve their goals since portfolio reviews would increase time strain on their systems. External reviews done prior to stakeholders receiving portfolios can lessen the strain by reducing and summarizing the main qualities exhibited by an artifact. The previously mentioned third-party evaluators will develop their own evaluation procedures in consultation with the relevant stakeholders. The resulting reports on portfolios can then be used by the stakeholders in conjunction with the supporting artifacts in the review process, reducing the time needed to develop their own conclusions on the student's ability. This service would require much more formal organization of the enterprise, which I will outline in a later section.

Finally, the system indirectly services the entire education ecosystem by responding to the challenges faced by schools trying to adapt "one-size-fits-all" education resources to their unique community situations. As the schools that students attend vary greatly in the resources available and experiences provided, the enterprise needs to ensure that these differences have little impact on the end results of its processes. For example, a student should not be penalized for a portfolio that may lack a certain kind of experience (such as professional work experience in their field) if the student did not have easy access to that opportunity. Conversely, students who go above and beyond the offering of their locality should still be rewarded for their initiative yet not given too much advantage over their peers who may not have had the means to pursue a similar experience. The enterprise can provide this service due to the flexibility offered by the portfolio infrastructure and the authentic learning environment that the proposal advocates for. Artifacts included in a portfolio reflect the environment they are created in, especially when their teachers use project- and community-based learning principles, and the added reflection further reveal the student's context so evaluators can orient their reports to the student's background.

3.7 Organization

The organization of the enterprise varies between the stakeholder groups represented. At the lowest level, schools serve as the facilitator of the student's learning experiences and construction of their portfolio. The enterprise requires changes in the school's organization that allow teachers more autonomy in the learning experiences they offer while also fostering more collaboration between classrooms and with the community. Autonomy becomes important in implementing the enterprises as students need learning experiences that respond to their needs; a one-size-fits-all approach will not work well with the enterprise as it cannot address the differentiation needed to engage all students with learning. The enterprise also pushes learning beyond one classroom's walls, so a school organization oriented around collaboration will best connect students with the mentorship and opportunities they need to explore their passions fully. As this organizational shift will be substantial, schools will need to be consulted to determine how it could be implemented while taking all related stakeholders into consideration.

While school organization will be determined with what best facilitates authentic learning, the organization of the remaining stakeholders-colleges, employers, and accountability organizations-is instead focused on optimizing the evaluation process. As discussed previously, the enterprise will pose a larger time and resource burden to conduct evaluation than the conventional systems. To reduce the number of times a portfolio undergoes evaluation, the development of an intermediate organization between schools and evaluators would be necessary. The intermediary organization would employ domain experts to assess portfolio artifacts using a standardized rubric and create a summary of the qualifications exhibited by the raw artifacts. Stakeholders need to trust the entity behind the intermediary evaluator since its decisions will greatly affect the validity of portfolios as an evaluative tool. Potential entities that could support the intermediate evaluators include domain-focused organizations like the National Academies, assessment-focused organizations like the College Board, or consortiums of stakeholders like the Coalition for College Access. Additionally, a new non-profit organization could also support the organizational needs of the enterprise, yet this would require larger effort than relying on existing organizations. Regardless, the intermediary evaluation organizations can reduce the burden of implementation on the stakeholders and drive the success of the enterprise.

3.8 Knowledge

Knowledge² in the authentic learning portfolio enterprise will primarily include the evaluation processes developed by stakeholders to extract meaning from portfolios. As seen in the past uses of portfolios in the workforce, different entities will set different standards and expectations for what should be included in a portfolio (Ward and Moser, 2008). Entities in the same areas (i.e. colleges with similar academic offerings, states with similar education standards) can collaborate on shared standards to use

²In the ARIES framework, "Knowledge" comprises of the competencies and expertise created by the enterprise; this differs from the aforementioned "Information," which instead includes any information required for the enterprise to operate (Nightingale and Rhodes, 2015).

in evaluation, and these standards will not entirely be mutually exclusive to allow students to use their portfolios across numerous purposes. To navigate the diversity of expectations among stakeholders, the enterprise will develop the expertise in helping students develop "portfolio literacy" which has been seen as a critical skill in industries like art and design with long experience in using portfolios (Barnes et al., 2022). "Portfolio literacy" as a competency would include comprehending the differences in standards and understanding how to choose the best artifacts from their general collection to convey the information an organization needs.

Beyond general "portfolio literacy," the enterprise also generates knowledge in individual communities on the best ways to engage students with learning. Whereas traditional education enterprises rely on a small set of approaches that have varied effectiveness for students of certain backgrounds, the enterprise will generate various curricular and pedagogical supports that address the specific needs of students. This breadth of knowledge can be better utilized by the enterprise when teachers and schools have opportunities to share with their peers. Open Educational Resources³ hence becomes a major approach that the enterprise can use to organize the knowledge it generates. By capturing curricular knowledge in OERs, the enterprise can support the system through the dissemination of best practices. Repurposing and adapting resources expands their usefulness, allowing important tools to reach a wider audience. (Hilton, <u>2016</u>). The circulation capabilities of OERs will play a critical role in ensuring the widest spread of authentic learning portfolios.

3.9 Process

Successful execution of portfolios will require the development of robust processes that control the flow of information into useful products and services for the enterprise's stakeholders. Following the conceptual review of portfolios by Strohmeier, the

³"Open Educational Resources (OER) are learning, teaching and research materials in any format and medium that reside in the public domain or are under copyright that have been released under an open license, that permit no-cost access, re-use, re-purpose, adaptation and redistribution by others." ("Recommendation on Open Educational Resources (OER)", [2019]



Figure 3-2: Process map for creating a portfolio.

enterprise will need to support three main purposes: development, assessment, and documentation (Strohmeier, $\overline{2010}$).

3.9.1 Portfolio Creation

Portfolios' value depends on the quality of the artifacts enclosed; unless the enterprise helps students produce interesting artifacts, then the system falls short of achieving its strategic goals. The portfolio creation process serves as the bridge between the authentic learning experiences chosen for implementation and the portfolio as the storage location for the new information generated (see Figure 3-2). At the beginning of the process, a student pairs artifacts of their learning with their self-reflections. These materials must then go to a trusted adult, either a teacher or school-vetted mentor, to verify the integrity of the student's work. As the environment in which artifacts are created is not controlled, verification provides needed assurance that the work captured in a student's portfolio is their own. After verifying their submission, the student can move it into their master portfolio.

3.9.2 Performance Assessment

To turn a master portfolio into one usable for performance assessment, students first need to consult a list of standards to determine what types of artifacts the assessor will need to see (see Figure 3-3). For performance assessment, these standards will connect to specific cognitive skills an interested party wants to determine if the student has. Each standard should have a corresponding rubric with which an assessor can



Figure 3-3: Process map for performance assessment using a portfolio.

compare a selected artifact against. The rubric should have evidence supporting its use to predict the student's proficiency with its respective cognitive ability. Using the provided standards, a student then selects artifacts from their master portfolio to construct a new assessment-specific portfolio they will distribute to their assessor. After the assessor applies the rubrics to the assessment portfolio, they will produce a report which summarizes the skills exhibited by the collection along with an indicator of proficiency.

As student artifacts will demonstrate variety in the media and approaches used, assessments may benefit from students completing a common task to help assessors calibrate their reviews. Examples of common tasks in current practice include PACE (the common task supplements individual districts unique assessment approaches) or the portfolio prompts used in University of Michigan's Ross School of Business undergraduate admission application ("Performance Assessment of Competency Education", n.d.; Willis and Martinez, 2023). Following specific instructions from the assessment entity, students will include the resulting artifacts from the task along with their personal artifacts in their final portfolio. The common artifact will allow assessors to determine whether a student meets minimum proficiency for the skill, and the personal artifacts will validate the student's further mastery of the skill



Figure 3-4: Process map for candidate evaluation using a portfolio.

3.9.3 Candidate Evaluation

Candidate evaluation will follow a similar process to that used for performance assessment, yet the focus in this process will be to summarize a student's non-cognitive qualities (see Figure 3-4). Again, students will select artifacts from their master portfolio which they feel best encapsulate the standards the evaluator sets for their portfolio intake. Each standard will have a corresponding rubric which has documented validity in its prediction. Using the students evaluation-specific portfolio, they will review artifacts against their respective rubrics and produce a report summarizing the qualities demonstrated. As non-cognitive qualities can less easily be quantified, the evaluation report instead will provide qualitative findings which highlight the non-cognitive qualities demonstrated by a student's collection. Additionally, the evaluation will not provide a common task as the evaluation could get better results from considering how the student responds to real-life situations.

3.10 Remaining Questions Surrounding System Adoption

The above system architecture covers many of the operational challenges demonstrated in past work on portfolios and authentic learning approaches. Implementing the system, however, requires additional information on the needs and concerns of the primary stakeholders as the enterprise uses existing practices in novel ways.

3.10.1 Acceptance of Required Changes

The enterprise will challenge many existing processes and system structures, and implementation with considering the systemic impacts of the proposed changes would likely lead more issues to propagate. As each stakeholder's acceptance of the system will determine its overall success, interviews with stakeholders need to reveal any remaining operational difficulties that may discourage entities from fully participating in their strategic role. Across education innovations, limited capacity of staff and resource constraints will likely create the biggest issues for stakeholders. Verifying that the proposed design features respond to their concerns takes high importance then in determining the next iteration of the design.

3.10.2 System Centralization

The enterprise will require entities to take on new roles within the ecosystem as well as new organizations to be created to fill in any gaps in capacity remaining. With shifts in the roles of stakeholders, trust will likely need to be rebuilt to ensure cooperation. In considering the steps to implement the enterprise, the eventual system architect must consider what each stakeholder finds most important in determining who should fill each new role. Specifically, organizations will likely have the most stipulations for what organizations take on the roles of evaluation and assessment. Ideally, stakeholders will indicate which types of organizations, and maybe support specific organizations we have identified, to help guide future iterations of the architecture.

3.10.3 Perceived Challenges to Cooperation

As mentioned earlier in my discussion of the barriers to implementation, stakeholders may hesitate in supporting the system if they perceive that other stakeholders cannot support the system adequately. From my review of stakeholder salience, K-12 Education Entities, Higher Education Institutions, and Hiring Managers/Employers will likely be most susceptible to these perceptions as they all lack features that would ensure their buy-in could initiate systemic change. Colleges, for example, lack urgency to enact the change if they perceive that K-12 Education Entities will not implement the enterprise satisfactorily. Likewise, K-12 education entities lack power to enact changes to the system that Higher Education Entities and Government Agencies can use. The next iteration of the system architecture should consider how the stakeholders' perceptions impact their willingness to cooperate with each other, and additional design considerations may be needed to address these perceptions in the implementation plan.

Chapter 4

Current Barriers to Adopting the System

4.1 **Operational Barriers**

The limited capacities of the stakeholders in the education ecosystem may make it difficult to implement some features of the previously outlined system architecture. Fortunately, existing literature documents and explores many of the operational barriers faced by the education ecosystem, making it easier to address them in the final system architecture. The following sections describe the documented challenges the proposed enterprise will have to address in its operational strategy.

4.1.1 Time/Resources Needed

The flexibility and authenticity of portfolios may create new value for many of education's stakeholders, yet this value comes at the cost of more resource-intensive processes to operate and maintain the system. Portfolios will provide educators with deep information about a student's development, rich with details and nuances that can help the college admissions or hiring reviewer understand what makes this student unique. With depth, however, comes a need for additional time to process the information which many organizations do not have. Colleges, the likely recipient of most students completed portfolios, currently spend less than 10 minutes reviewing all the application materials for a single application (Korn, 2018). Conventional components like transcripts and score reports quickly and concisely present the information reviewers need. A portfolio would instead require a reviewer to spend time with each artifact to understand its context and then more time determining how artifacts interact with each other to reveal a student's full learning narrative. Employers have had similar struggles in reviewing portfolios; rather than considering the full portfolio, hiring managers often ask applicants to select the most important few artifacts to discuss during interviews (Whitworth et al., 2016). While the obvious solution would be to increase capacity and bring in additional reviewers, the nature of portfolio evaluation makes this difficult as they will require evaluators to have deep knowledge of the course materials to determine the merits of an artifact. For MIT's maker portfolio, they task a committee of faculty to review student's projects so they could best identify the qualities of artifacts which could correlate to success on campus ("Creative portfolios", n.d. Peterson and Abelson, 2015). This has worked for the program while participation has remained near 10% of applicants (Peterson and Abelson, 2015). However, as the program begins to operate closer to scale, MIT among other adopters will need to change their approach.

As this proposal requires mass changes across the educational landscape, even initiating the system will exasperate the resource-limited players. The system will likely take the largest toll on K12 schools as they will need to do much of the groundwork to ensure that the learning environment can accommodate the demands of authentic learning practices. Unfortunately, many school districts struggle to provide beyond the minimum requirements due to limited budgets. AP courses, for example, can help students prepare for college enrollment, yet roughly 30% of schools offer no AP courses (Kim, 2021). Schools may also struggle to recruit quality teachers, leading some communities without the staff required to manage the program. As of January 2023, 36,000 teaching positions are vacant (Shelton, 2023). Efforts to fix the teacher shortage have increased post-pandemic, yet with some initiatives reliant on soon-expiring recovery funds to operate, the struggles may exist for years and decades to come.

The staffing crisis in American schools demonstrates one way how resources can reinforce the downfall of reforms. With teaching positions left vacant, school staff must become responsible for a larger caseload of students. For counselors, their ratio to students averages around 408 students per counselor, meaning during the school year they will only have 38 minutes discussing college and careers with each student (Young, 2023). Teachers face a similarly difficult statistic with an average class size of 15.6 students in American schools ("National Teacher and Principal Survey (NTPS)", 2018). Adding practices like authentic learning and portfolios to their responsibilities will require teachers to spend additional time adjusting lesson plans and advising students. Without additional support, the burden can become overwhelming, leading some teachers to exit the profession. The high exit rates, both from early retirements or exits from young teachers, following the pandemic have seemingly escalated the shortage. As vacancies increase, the cycle continues, and reforms become harder to implement. Just as portfolios and authentic learning approaches depend on each other for success, the architecture of a systemic reform will likely need to consider what other actions must occur to prepare the environment for accommodating the changes.

4.1.2 Standardization

Portfolios and authentic learning's flexibility also pose operational challenges for the stakeholders that depend on the output of the K12 education system. Here, flexibility acts as both a blessing and a curse. While the needs of students and schools can be better accommodated by a system that allows for adjustment and adaptation, external stakeholders would then need to take on additional burden to understand a student's context prior to them evaluating a portfolio. Instead, they prefer conventional practices which have standardized learning environments and make comparison easier between communities. Advocates for standardized tests have long argued that a quantifiable measure like the ACT or SAT works better as it has similar meaning re-

gardless of a student's background (Cohen, 2021). While authentic learning portfolios do not necessarily prevent such comparisons, the extra work required to establish a basis for this comparison between different learning environments will likely dampen support. This standardization of portfolio reviews will likely require more stakeholder capacity than currently present, and the short time granted to both college and job applications would not support an adequate evaluation of the artifacts present.

Time issues aside, the variety of portfolios particularly will make evaluating diverse candidates even more difficult. The current system has its issues, with many critics arguing that the current standard approaches suffer from their own inequities. While the ACT and SAT market themselves as unbiased measures of student ability, research has shown scores may be more correlated with a student's family income, gender, or racial background than their innate abilities (Broussard, 2014; Hess, 2019) Reeves and Halikias, 2017). Transcripts similarly present an issue as the definition of A-quality work in one school may be different in another (Noonoo, 2022). Even measures like personal statements that receive more weight in holistic admissions, colleges' main attempt to make their process more equitable, have strong correlations with a student background that evaluations cannot easily separate from (Alvero et al., 2021). Portfolios would similarly exacerbate these final challenges as the variety of artifacts would amplify confounding factors. A standardized review process could inadvertently ignore context that would orient artifacts and allow for fairer comparisons of artifacts; for example, a standard process looking for a specific presentation of a skill, like using linear equations, may miss examples in which the skill is exhibited less obviously, like through a spreadsheet a student made for a personal finance class. A quick solution to the problem could be to first orient portfolios with a student's test scores, yet this would likely hurt the scalability of portfolios. With scores still easier to prepare for than a comprehensive portfolio, students will focus on their test scores first to improve their appeal and then select artifacts that align well with their scores. Dependence on standardized assessments could then cause the ecosystem to again prioritize conventional practices that do nothing to engage students over the harder-to-scale reforms that respond to a student's interests.

4.1.3 Equity

An effective implementation of authentic learning portfolios may also struggle to develop due to inequities across the ecosystem. Primarily, I will consider equity as providing each student a learning environment that responds to their unique needs and addresses disadvantages related to their specific background; by this definition, inequities in the ecosystem reflect situations in which students may not have appropriate accommodations for their abilities or lack access to classes and activities relevant to their past experiences. Of most concern for portfolios is a student's access to quality learning experiences. Often, those students requiring the most support will have the least opportunities to create compelling portfolios in the classroom. With artifacts being the primary demonstration of a student's qualifications, the quality of a student's experience could greatly impact an evaluator's perception of a student's abilities. Students that may perform similarly on the standardized assessments may thus receive vastly different evaluations of their portfolio since one student had access to more rich learning experiences in their school. Much like college essays which require students to have an implicit knowledge of colleges to look for, a student's ability to effectively demonstrate their qualification will also greatly depend on their "portfolio literacy" (Alvero et al., 2021; Barnes et al., 2022). As many underserved students will not have sufficient time with their counselors or teachers, they will have to struggle through putting together their portfolios alone like they currently struggle with their college applications.

Colleges and employers, the stakeholders who have the most reason to evaluate portfolios, will then have the added burden of determining whether differences in artifacts occur due to candidates' abilities or backgrounds. For example, the qualifications demonstrated by standardized test scores and transcripts are shaped by the opportunities available in a student's learning environment, yet since they generally follow a standard format, these factors external to the student are less apparent. However, a student's portfolio directly reflects their learning environment, as the artifacts represent how the student's abilities appear within their school's curriculum and pedagogy. Schools that implement portfolios without complementary authentic learning activities then will make it harder for students to demonstrate their abilities beyond what can be shown on a test. Since some students will have the ability to demonstrate these less-observed skills, they again receive the advantage portfolios aim to address. Portfolios will thus likely not replace convention unless stakeholders can confirm all students receive equitable consideration of their abilities.

4.1.4 Compliance

Schools, especially public ones, face an additional constraint of complying with standards and policies set to maintain quality of learning. Policy controls K-12 schools in two ways that directly impact the viability of a portfolio system: holding schools accountable to demonstrating minimum academic progress and setting graduation and curricular requirements. The first way has traditionally relied on standardized assessments. As a result of No Child Left Behind, Race to the Top, and now the Every Student Succeeds Act, public schools now conduct regular assessments of student achievement to evaluate the effectiveness of schools (Klein, 2015, 2016). Schools often perceive making sure students feel prepared for examinations as a key part of maintaining a good standing with their state. In theory, this should then correspond with preparedness for life after graduation, but in practice, this has led to students feeling more prepared in taking tests. Termed as "teaching to the test," the presence of the high-stakes test often requires teachers to replace engaging lesson plans to ensure students have appropriate time to learn the material needed for the tests (Phelps, 2011). Outside of formal accountability, policymakers can control the behavior of schools through their approval power over curricula and graduation requirements. Like seen with other policies, this power can both hinder and harm authentic learning portfolios depending on how a state uses it. While some states enforce curricula and testing requirements that can shift resources away from providing authentic learning experiences, states can similarly introduce requirements like diploma seals in Ohio and senior projects in Colorado that mandate the adoption of the practices ("Demonstrating Readiness | Graduation Seals", n.d.; Spicer, 2019).
By determining what practices schools must comply with, policymakers can directly enact or indirectly impede the growth of the proposed system.

While colleges have significant independence in how they operate, policy can influence the requirements they use in admissions. The most direct way this has occurred for public colleges has been through controlling what they can consider during the admissions process. While the level of autonomy of colleges varies between states, most often undergraduate admissions have to respond to some direction from elected officials on how they determine what students get in. In the post-pandemic years, mandates typically focused on what colleges could consider standardized test scores in admissions. The University of California and California State systems, for example, made the decision to remove tests from consideration entirely (Watanabe, 2021). Advocates have noted this has given California the unique opportunity to include performance assessment via portfolios (Watanabe, 2021). Other states have taken the opposite actions, with Florida's and Tennessee's systems reinstating testing requirements (Satterfield, 2021; Wright, 2022). With tests required, schools within these states will again have incentives to prioritize tests and have less capacity than in testfree states to implement a proposal like this. Government's ability to influence college requirements, however, does not spell certain doom for authentic learning portfolios, as policy can just as easily encourage portfolios through its control as well as it can hinder them. With states often seeking synergy between their accountability practices and the admission demands of their public colleges, this operational challenge could become an opportunity if policy were to allow colleges to admit students based on their portfolios. The City University of New York demonstrated this with their pilot of an alternative pathway to admissions based on a portfolio submission. While limited to a small consortium of schools, early results from the pilot have shown students admitted through this pathway have higher first-year GPAs and persistence than their peers (Fine and Pryiomka, 2020). As colleges navigate the future of their admissions processes in response to changing policy priorities, they have the opportunity to take actions that will encourage change throughout the system.

In effect here, policy partially determines the external landscape in which students

and parents make educational decisions. Specifically, they set specific obligations in which schools must fulfill to participate in the landscape. These set obligations are what then limits how a transformation like authentic learning portfolios can operate. Consider first a school which aims to implement a system that does not easily support the obligations set by policy, like using portfolios as the primary form of assessment despite a state mandate to administer specific standardized assessments. Students will likely need some support on understanding how to take the test, yet unfortunately their class environment does not reinforce test-taking skills. Since students will lack familiarity with the tests, the school may then face lower test scores and the resulting consequences from its governing body. More time will be dedicated to test-taking skills at the expense of portfolio development and authentic learning, leading to the decline and eventual failure of the system.

Portfolios inclusive of existing compliance policies, however, likely face a similar viability issue. Now consider a school wanting to implement a system similar to the prior example, but this time the school considers compliance and balances it in priority. While schools dedicate a portion of class time to compliance, they may still perform less on the compliance measures than schools that chose not to implement the inclusive system. To stay competitive on the measure, schools will dedicate less time to the system and more time on compliance. The priority then again becomes compliance leaving little interest in maintaining the alternative system and preventing growth across the system.

4.2 Perceptive Barriers

Besides physical constraints, schools also face barriers to implementing systems based on their perceptions of other stakeholder's expectations. These barriers, while not necessarily grounded in actual constraints, make system implementation difficult unless they can be operationally overcome or challenged by stakeholder cooperation. Stakeholder cooperation appears to be most important in overcoming these barriers as by breaking down incorrect perceptions, schools can find new ways to motivate other stakeholders to move towards adoption as well.

Authentic learning portfolios will involve many interactions between different stakeholders, so some groups will likely hesitate in adoption if they worry other stakeholders will not adequately meet their responsibilities. Similar to their concerns over compliance with state policies, schools may hesitate acting on portfolios as it may make their curriculum less favorable to colleges looking to admit their students. With college being the primary goal of high school for many students, changes to practices may raise concern that students will be put at a disadvantage by the new system. High schools frequently use the expectations of colleges to determine how they manage instruction; AP Calculus for example has proliferated in schools out of the perception that colleges reward students who take it in lieu of other, possibly more relevant math classes (Anderson and Burdman, 2022). The perception that colleges would punish high schools that shift away from convention lacks much standing, however. Consider the Mastery Transcript, which again has many similarities with a portfolio system that could support authentic learning; since it would radically change the information admissions would have access to, they have secured commitments from over 160 institutions that using the transcript would not be detrimental to applicants (Montes, 2021). Despite this confirmation, authentic learning portfolios may still face opposition from their community concerned that colleges, despite their messaging, will not accept the change. With parents becoming increasingly active in the decision making of their schools, radical shifts will be challenged unless the school board can satisfy community concerns (Sawchuk, 2021). As an example of challenges from parents, consider Maine who had to roll back their own attempts of implementing competency-based graduation standards; parents in the state worried that the new meaning of grade points would be lost on colleges, and students would appear less talented than their transcripts implied they were (Barnum, 2018; Barshay, 2018). Colleges could easily adjust their reviews to accommodate the changes, but since much of the process would remain private, families found the changes too risky for students in the short term to justify the long term returns. Without schools and community support, even the most well-intentioned changes to policy would be challenged.

While colleges control much of the perceptions of the post-secondary transition, they do adjust their behavior in response to their perceptions of K12 education as well. Since their system depends on the output of K12 schools, colleges must anticipate the capacity of their applicants when designing their admissions process. Too difficult a process, less students will apply to a college and thus enrollment and revenue will decline over time. Difficulty aside, a college's application process depends on the stability of external organizations, namely high schools and testing organizations, to run smoothly. When these partners get interrupted, colleges must respond. The recent pandemic exemplifies this as colleges could no longer trust that all applicants could complete the required standardized tests by their deadlines; colleges shifted, as a result, towards test-optional policies with more 80% participating in the transition (Nietzel, 2002). As test centers reopened, however, many colleges remained test-optional. While the published reasoning varied, with most arguing that removing tests allowed them to admit a more diverse freshman class, one common trend across colleges was that the weakening of requirements increased applications (Belasco et al., 2015). Outside of the application, college's perceptions of high schools' effectiveness influence their instructional operations. Again, because of the pandemic, many students have enrolled in college with less than expected abilities in core cognitive competencies, leading to more remedial courses being offered and instructors adjusting their techniques to accommodate deficiencies (Fawcett, 2022). Both examples show that colleges need to consider the average student's abilities when determining their strategies. As for this proposal, colleges will likely face concerns over whether their applicants could create a product useful for their purposes. As mentioned previously, status quo schools will have difficulties due to low resources and policies detrimental to implementing authentic learning to an extent in which valuable artifacts are generated.

Chapter 5

Embedding Authentic Learning Portfolios into Policy

Local successes demonstrate that authentic learning portfolios work in concept, yet scaling the practice to work in different communities across the nation will require mechanisms beyond those available to individual schools. With most students attending public schools in the United States (49.5 million compared to the 4.7 million in private schools), state and federal governments will play a critical role in encouraging adoption of the practices ("Fast Facts", 2023). Policymakers appear to have two pathways they could follow to embed authentic learning portfolios into the fabric of public schools: allow for portfolio assessment in school accountability systems or require a portfolio for high school graduation. Each option has its own strengths and weaknesses, but they share the common effect of changing the culture of today's schools. Due to the fragmented nature of education in the US, enactment of these policies would need to occur at the local or state level, yet federal policy can also motivate local action. Policy-enforced transformations, despite the formal authority behind them, do not always succeed though, and without proper care, they can subside and cause a return to conventional practices. Pushback often occurs when students and their families perceive a transformation as potentially detrimental to their future. Even the most well-documented successes may fail in expanding if families worry about the consequences of being an early adopter. This chapter considers instances in which governments took the above pathways to implement comparable education transformations, namely portfolio assessment and proficiency-based learning; by analyzing the conditions that led to each example, I identify what policy actions could lead to wide adoption of authentic learning portfolios.

5.1 Pathway 1: School Accountability Systems

A strong school accountability system consists of clear expectations of what good performance looks like, measures that track the academic progress of students with limited disruptions, and proper incentives to encourage school to continue improvement (Loeb and Figlio, 2010). Throughout the history of the American education system, policymakers have made numerous attempts at perfecting an accountability approach, yet their efforts have typically fallen short. From early state-based efforts to No Child Left Behind and Every Student Succeeds, the system often leads to misaligned incentives for schools, with many classes focusing on "teaching to the test" rather than pursuing engaging practices (Phelps, 2011). By positioning authentic learning portfolios as an alternative to the standardized tests that accountability systems mostly depend on, state and federal governments can put proper emphasis back on engaging instructional methods. To do this, the federal governments needs to afford state governments and the school districts they represent the autonomy to design assessments considerate of their community's needs.

5.1.1 Early Efforts

Prior to 2002, individual states decided whether they needed an accountability system, and the few systems that did exist had little similarity. The early accountability systems showed significant improvements in math and reading on the National Assessment of Educational Progress, a standardized test focused on national rather than local achievement; states that attached consequences to accountability measures saw even larger gains to those that simply reported out data on school performance (Dee and Jacob, 2010). Despite early gains from accountability systems, adoption remained limited, with only 29 states by 2002 having adopted "consequential accountability systems" and 7 states making no effort to track student achievement in schools (Alderman, 2015). Accountability measures during the early era also corresponded to the specific needs of each state, meaning that states faced the burden of developing custom assessments that were more costly than today's nationally available options. With the lack of national direction, states did not have a clear set of benchmarks they could use to characterize students and instead looked for differences relative to a student's or school's peers (Dee and Jacob, 2010). As a result, system wide trends lacked a foundation that could guide policy discussions on the direction of educational systems. On the spectrum from strong state to strong national authority, school accountability pre-2002 falls definitively on the side of strong state control. Notwithstanding the limitations local assessments had, the lack of strict system requirements fostered some innovation regarding assessment strategies. Vermont and Kentucky, for example, individually developed accountability systems that utilized portfolio assessments as their primary measure (Holland, 2007). Even with these advances in practice, federal legislators recognized the growing collective action problem before them; accountability appeared too costly for most states to take on alone, yet all would likely benefit from enacting it. Federal action thus appeared necessary to scaling a strong accountability system nationwide.

5.1.2 No Child Left Behind

The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001 became the largest federal intervention into public education of its time, and it directly responded to the need for more wide-spread enactment of school accountability systems (Klein, 2015). The act used access to federal funding to enforce strict standards for what a satisfactory accountability system would entail. States were required to administer standardized tests on the core academic subjects (i.e. math and reading) annually to students (Klein, 2015). NCLB ensured that all states would use the same assessments and metrics, so early experiments in accountability went to the wayside. Vermont's and Kentucky's

experiments in portfolio assessments were stopped short by the enactment of NCLB, though research at the time revealed struggles with maintaining consistency and the systems' high costs that would have likely resulted in a rollback regardless (Holland, [2007]). NCLB placed emphasis on standardization and comparability between schools. Systems no longer needed to make relative judgements on the performances of schools as they had clear benchmarks each school should meet. In theory, the goals set by the benchmarks would motivate teachers and principals to improve instruction. The emphasis on test scores, amplified by the potential financial impacts of not meeting a benchmark, however proved too consequential. This instance of high-stakes social decision-making created the perfect environment for Campbell's law to take effect. Due to the high value of good test scores, schools started to take actions later categorized as "teaching to the test"; these practices emphasized test-taking strategies and rote memorization over problem-solving and critical think to many students' detriment (Schoen and Fusarelli, 2008). As a result of "teaching to the test," schools had less incentive to pursue authentic learning and portfolios because the practices would not lead to direct improvements of test scores. NCLB also represented a loss of local autonomy. While strong federal intervention helped establish common standards and ease the burden developing a system would pose to many states, the movement of accountability away from local control made it harder for schools to address their unique needs. The one-size-fits-all nature of NCLB led to student disengagement over time as instruction and assessment felt less relevant to their needs. Authentic learning portfolios can reestablish engaging practices, yet only if policy balances the need for national cooperation with the need for local autonomy.

5.1.3 The Every Student Succeeds Act

NCLB's replacement, the Every Student Succeeds Act, introduced less restrictive requirements to how states conduct standardized testing and school accountability (Klein, 2016). The ESSA, passed in 2015, reduced the federal government's role in education by shifting much of the responsibility of standards-setting back to the states. The Department of Education took on an advisory role in regard to the devel-

opment of benchmarks. The act did not fully eliminate federal intervention though; the federal government still had enforcement authority over the state-designed plans and could use federal funding to incentivize innovation and improvements. Primarily, the act made it easier for states to design their own standardized assessments; with this additional autonomy, states began to experiment with integrating portfolios and related-assessment strategies into schools again (POLICY, PILOTS AND THE PATH TO COMPETENCY-BASED EDUCATION: A National Landscape, 2017). New Hampshire, for example, developed the Performance Assessment of Competency Education (PACE) to serve as a component of its ESSA testing; PACE still utilizes some standardized tests to calibrate its findings, yet much of the assessment comes from locally developed performance tasks which could easily make up a student's portfolio ("Performance Assessment of Competency Education", n.d.). A consortium of schools in New York took similar advantage of ESSA's flexibility to seek exemption from all tests except the English Language Arts Regents Exam to instead base assessments on student portfolios and evaluations from teachers ("About Performance Assessment", n.d.). The ESSA represents a middle ground between the uncontrolled autonomy of the early accountability systems and the strict federal control of NCLB. While ESSA still requires compliance with basic common standards, states have more authority to design systems that best respond to the needs of their residents (Klein, 2016). The ESSA, however, still requires improvement; while schools now have more freedom to use test alternatives for accountability purposes, the adoption of more engaging practices has stagnated due to a lack of government support.

5.1.4 Current Status of Test Alternatives

While ESSA has allowed progress towards the use of authentic learning portfolios in accountability systems, states have continued to use standardized tests due to their ease and less cost to implement at scale. The ESSA specifically established the Innovative Assessment Initiative to encourage schools to think beyond simple tests to meet accountability requirements, yet the program struggles to make meaningful change due to the remaining federal regulations on testing. The program suffered from lack of funding for participating states, meaning that efforts to move towards more costly portfolio assessments would need to be self-funded (Javurek, 2021). Additionally, many states only made minor improvements to test delivery due to many sites trying to produce systems that would provide similar data to their legacy systems (Javurek, 2021). Whereas NCLB led the development of standardized tests for the states, ESSA shifted this responsibility back to states along with its authority to set standards. Portfolio assessment, due to its high cost, struggles to win favor of parties ambivalent to its use, so unless states can meet a specific need with the practice, they will likely maintain the more affordable status quo (Strohmeier, 2010).

States that have developed portfolio assessments for school accountability have often done so to support the needs of specific student groups. While states like Massachusetts continue to administer a standardized test to the vast majority of their students, they have implemented portfolios to support students with disabilities (Dixon, 2003; Wiener, 2006). As these students may struggle with the conventional, portfolio assessment has mass appeal as it allows students with disabilities to exhibit their learning in the ways most comfortable to them. Portfolio assessment for students with disabilities has a long history. Even in the strict testing regime of NCLB, school districts could offer students with significant disabilities an alternative assessment, often using a portfolio, while still staying in compliance with the federal rules (Cortiella, 2005). The ESSA, despite its general push for more local authority, placed some additional restrictions on the use of a portfolio assessment, capping districts from administering it to more than 1% of their students (Samuels, 2018). With such a small proportion of students completing the alternative assessment, capacity does not pose an issue like it would if all students completed a portfolio instead of a test. Though concerns have grown among special education teachers over whether a portfolio can be a trustworthy and insightful assessment tool, the philosophy behind its inclusion connects back to the general rationale for using authentic learning portfolios over standardized assessments; the practice allows students to demonstrate their proficiency in the ways best suited for them.

The history of school accountability in the US shows that federal and even state

interventions into the operations of local schools can impede innovation. With the local successes of authentic portfolios often occurring due to schools having the authority to design experiences and procedures that respond to the unique needs of their communities, the scaling of the practice will require limited federal intervention unlike what existed under NCLB. Conversely, a fully fragmented system impedes the growth of authentic portfolios as well. If a common set of standards were not developed for portfolios, they would likely have little value outside the school they were created in. As seen in the workforce uses of portfolios, value can only be extracted from a portfolio once a discipline decides on what they wanted to see included (Ward and Moser, 2008). Since establishing standards would be difficult without some federal intervention, the fully-state-designed accountability systems pre-2002 would also be less ideal for scaling the proposal. Existing in the middle of the spectrum of control, the ESSA along with complementary legislation like Innovative Assessment Initiative makes the current policy environment most adept to implement authentic portfolios more widely. Schools will likely require additional financial and information support from state and federal governments to justify the transition, yet with the proper incentive, schools have the authority to design a portfolio system responsive to their community's needs.

5.2 Pathway 2: Graduation Standards

As seen with the outcomes of ESSA, allowing for innovation to occur often still results in the status quo; with the high implementation cost of authentic learning portfolios, schools may require direct orders to implement the proposal. By integrating the practice into graduation requirements, states can spark initial adoption that will grow as schools gain experience. Traditionally, states have used graduation standards based on "seat-time" measures; these standards look for students to complete a certain number of credits in each subject area the state or local district deems important (Ingraham, 2021). These standards make up the minimum that public schools need to ensure their students complete, yet individual districts can add their own requirements (such as volunteer hours or a college/career seminar) if they see fit. Seat-time standards have received criticism in recent years due to students having the necessary credits yet cannot demonstrate the purported skills they have in practice (Ingraham, 2021). This discrepancy has often been proposed as an explanation for why GPAs have appeared to rise while standardized test scores remain stagnant or decline (Noonoo, 2022). To ensure students graduate with the necessary skills, some states have pursued other frameworks for their state minimum requirements.

A state could encourage authentic learning portfolios by adopting a more radical framework for its graduation standards, specifically proficiency-based standards. Instead of looking at courses completed, these standards require students to demonstrate specific abilities and milestones ("Verifying Proficiency", n.d.). For example, instead of requiring students to complete a certain sequence of math courses, students would need to provide evidence that they have mastered certain math/analytical skills. Competency standards have led many schools to implement portfolio-like systems to help students to collect evidence and demonstrate their competency. States have implemented portfolios due to these standards with mixed results, however.

5.2.1 Successes in Vermont

Vermont transitioned to proficiency-based standards starting with the graduating class of 2020. Their transition required moving away from seat time towards "demonstrations of student proficiency" ("Proficiency-Based Graduation Requirements", n.d.). The state's approach used a "Portrait of a Graduate" (PoG) that would help school districts develop their own local standards. Using the local standards, schools determine if a student can graduate once they demonstrate, through artifacts from class and outside school, they have proficiency in the needed areas. Again, the proficiency standards make up the minimum requirements to graduate, and most schools also offer opportunities for students to go beyond and demonstrate additional proficiencies. While still early in its implementation, Vermont has found some successes in its adoption. At first, school districts found difficulty implementing local standards due to limited state support and guidance (Hewitt and Duffort, 2019). However in recent evaluations of the transition, surveys showed that state education experts "remain optimistic" and "some students have increased their engagement with the learning process as a result of the changes" (Bhalla et al., 2020). Students who have experienced Vermont's transformation in its entirety will now have started entering college and the workforce, so additional data should soon become available to determine the program's success.

5.2.2 Struggles in Maine

Maine also adopted proficiency-based standards early, yet the state unfortunately could not overcome challenges with securing stakeholder buy-in and rolled back changes in 2018. In analyses of the changes in Maine, experts have identified that many schools struggled to move away from traditional practices, like standardized tests, to offer true customizability to students (Barnum, 2018). Additionally, many Maine school districts faced challenges from students and parents worried that the proficiency-based standards would require structural changes that would affect students' college chances; for example, grading systems often changed from a 0-100 scale to a 1-4 scale where most students who had not achieved proficiency yet received 2s, affecting class rankings and GPAs (Barshay, 2018). Since local school districts still have final say over requirements, many schools have continued use proficiency standards and portfolios after Maine rolled back the standards in 2018. More generally, however, Maine schools have returned to normal at the request of parents and families. The concern over whether a transformation will affect a student's future will greatly impact whether authentic learning portfolios can scale, as demonstrated by Maine. Many of the practices attempted in this iteration of proficiency-based graduation standards received the support of colleges and universities. While the number on the transcript changed, colleges maintained that by using recommendations and school profiles, their admissions teams would still have all the information they needed to make fair admissions decisions. While colleges could do more to support the adoption of portfolios, as will be discussed in depth in the following chapter, the perceptions of parents can significantly limit schools' and states' abilities to enforce transformation of the system.

5.3 Directions for Policy

The primary issue for implementing authentic learning portfolios through policy lies in balancing system level pushes for the transformation while still giving schools local autonomy over their processes. School accountability requirements have historically hindered progress as strict rules and benchmarks pushed schools to prepare students for tests first and proficiency second. As the preparation of a portfolio contributes to learning, "teaching to the portfolio" would likely have positive impacts on student outcomes. Portfolios may become less engaging though if an accountability system pushes strict adherence to standards while not allowing schools to customize student experiences. With the current approach of ESSA, schools need to use their autonomy to try new assessment approaches including portfolios and performance assessment. As these endeavors will require resources many systems may not have, future policy should also include support for districts' experiments. Ambivalence to portfolios may also dampen the scaling of the portfolios, as schools may not fully buy-in with the system if it does not meet specific needs. Therefore, future policy promoting authentic learning portfolios should also require that the practices be included in school curricula, such as through graduation requirements. A mandated transformation will likely face initial push-back, yet through additional training and implementation support, the practices can overcome their initial shortcomings. The acceptance of the practice by families will determine the transformation's overall longevity, so schools will need to involve parents with implementation to ensure their needs are met. Finally, policy needs to consider how other key stakeholders impact the viability of their efforts. With colleges controlling many of the perceptions that have affected past attempts at transformation, the two stakeholder groups will likely need to coordinate efforts with K-12 education to ensure the successful scaling of the system.

Chapter 6

Securing the Support of Higher Education

As shown by the previous case studies, the acceptance of portfolios by college will do much to secure the support of other stakeholders, namely students and families. Colleges have issued statements of support to similar practices before, yet the messaging has had seemingly limited effect on perceptions of their expectations. This may partially occur since most applications still treat portfolios and similar practices as exceptions to the norm. Maker portfolios at MIT and other schools supplement the application, with most admitted students not submitting a portfolio. Over 160 colleges have accepted students using the Mastery Transcript, yet they often only receive a few as adopting high schools are still limited (Montes, 2021). Hope is not lost though, as some uses have seen larger scale, including existing use in art and design as well as the now required use in the Ross School of Business's application. Requirement is the key difference here; by mandating all students participate, the portfolio receives the proper emphasis it needs to instill further adoption by K12 systems. The question remains then: what has prevented adoption at scale of portfolios by universities? To answer this question, I sought feedback from professionals in admissions to learn how to best address the barriers their offices would face in trying to implement my proposal.

6.1 Interview Methodology

In Spring 2022, I conducted semi-structured qualitative interviews with representatives from undergraduate admissions offices over Zoom. The interviews lasted between 30 minutes and an hour. While primarily interviews occurred with one representative from each participating organization, some did include multiple representatives. Prior to starting the interview, the interviewer confirmed that participants signed a consent agreement and understood the interview would be recorded and transcribed for use in publication. Participants were told their institution's identity would be anonymized except for the details included in Table 6.1.

Participants received a one-page overview of the proposed system to read beforehand, and the interview began with another brief system description along with time to clarify any questions the representative may have had about our use of portfolios. The interview procedure focused on eliciting the representative's thoughts on the proposed system with focus on answering the research questions identified in the introduction of this paper. The interview also included questions about specific features of our portfolio to determine the extent of professional support for our design features. Interviews were recorded and transcribed by the author, and responses were grouped together by similar themes as they related to the earlier defined questions. In the next sections, these themes are discussed along with some illustrative quotes identified from the interviews.

The author contacted undergraduate admissions offices through cold emails and personal connections to recruit admissions directors and counselors to participate in the study. As these individuals both help set college's admissions procedures as well as review applications, they can provide the best insight into how their institutions would implement portfolios and the challenges they would face in doing so. Colleges were recruited to represent a variety of different institutional environments; institutional features considered when recruiting included public vs. private status, primary curricular focus, size, and selectivity indicated by Barron's Selectivity Index. Twoyear institutions were excluded from recruitment as many of these colleges have the

College Label	College Type	Undergraduate Enrollment Size	Barron's Selectivity Index
А	Private, STEM-focus	Medium	1
В	Private, STEM-focus	Small	1
C*	Public, STEM-focus	Large	2
D*	Private, Liberal Arts	Medium	1
Е	Private, STEM-focus	Medium	2

Table 6.1: Characteristics of college sample.

Note: * indicates more than one representative was interviewed from college

least selective or open enrollment admission processes that would not benefit nor be hindered by the implementation of portfolios. The sample for this thesis includes representatives from five four-year institutions. The participating institutions included one public institution and four private institutions. Table 6.1 shows the characteristics of each institution interviewed along with the anonymized label used to attribute quotes in the remainder of this paper.

6.1.1 Limitations

This study is limited in that the sample represents a small number of colleges that would face challenges using portfolios. Specifically, public colleges and less selective colleges are underrepresented in the interviews conducted. The sole public college interviewed (College C) indicated that their use of portfolios would be partially limited by state reporting rules which would still require standardized test scores to be considered. Other public colleges would face similar restrictions, so additional interviews should explore what limits would exist in other states to understand what policy changes would be needed to scale portfolios nationwide.

Less selective colleges, unlike the institutions interviewed in this study, often rely

on formulas based on GPA and test scores and minimum requirements to determine acceptances. As portfolios would offer a more qualitative assessment of a student, these colleges will likely face additional implementation challenges not addressed in this study. Some institutions like Iowa's public colleges have, however, begun offering alternative pathways for students not dependent on the factors they use in their admissions formula (Akin et al., 2022). Future research should then include less selective colleges to understand their requirements for the system to supplement or replace their existing formulas and cutoffs.

6.2 Perspectives on Operational Details

The interviews with college admissions professionals revealed tentative support for the proposal from an operational perspective. Admissions appeared to favor the possible applications of portfolios in their existing processes, and they indicated that the types of artifacts generated by authentic learning experiences would be preferred over submissions of tests and conventional assignments. Participants supported previously identified concerns that the proposal would be operationally hard to implement at the beginning, yet they expressed openness to aspects of the system architecture that aim to reduce the resource burden on stakeholders.

6.2.1 Possible Use Cases in Admissions

Participants viewed the proposal as valuable in three domains. First, they saw authentic learning portfolios' potential to supplement and eventually replace other evaluations of students' academic ability. College A, for example, indicated that the proposed system could "give us a prediction of how well a student is going to academically perform... the sort of cognitive, analytic skills and readiness that a student has." This perspective reflects the growing belief in admissions post-pandemic that their holistic review process could determine a student's academic preparedness independent of test scores. College B echoed this sentiment but also included that they would either be "all in or... not in" with using test scores in conjunction with the proposal as the choice to include test scores could unfairly advantage certain students; whereas other participants some value in tests as an additional verifier to a student's portfolio, college B instead argued that they could complicate a review since tests scores and portfolio artifacts cannot be directly compared.

Participants also saw portfolios as valuable for determining admission to highly competitive or more niche programs. These cases were characterized as having many candidates with similarly high qualifications, thus admissions teams needed to look deeper into a student's experiences to determine whether they would offer them admission. College C specifically recognized that they could use portfolios to determine admission to their architecture and design fields as well as possibly their highly competitive computer science program:

Probably 85 to 90% of the students who apply to us could do the work at our institution...But in some of the high demand areas [like computer science] where it really would be helpful for us to understand if these programs that a student is describing to us [are genuine]

The contemporary uses of portfolios for hiring in these fields further supports College C's observation of portfolio's potential value. For similar reasons, College A, College B, and College E also saw value in evaluating a student's STEM-related skills in action with their portfolio because many of their programs require qualities not readily captured in standardized assessments.

Finally, colleges saw value in using portfolios as a supporting structure to their existing mentorship and recruitment programs. College D expressly stated portfolios "could be helpful for any institutions who are considering any sort of early pipeline." Early recruitment pipelines have become common practice as colleges compete to attract talented students to attend their school. These programs benefit students who do not receive adequate support with college preparation in their high schools. Colleges also benefit from the programs as they can start recruiting their incoming classes earlier by engaging students younger. While admission is not guaranteed and enrollment at the host institution is often not required, recruitment programs have shown to increase the pursuit of college in general, especially among underrepresented students. Recruitment programs also naturally fit in as part of the proposed system as they can provide students with another adult eligible to verify their submissions; with many programs starting early in high school and facilitated by one-on-one interactions between students and adult representatives from a college, early recruitment programs can support student's curation of their portfolio and better prepare them for leveraging their artifacts in applications and interviews.

6.2.2 Barriers From Resource Limitations

While participants could generally visualize how authentic learning portfolios could support their operations, hesitations still exist over whether their institutions had the capacity to implement the proposal at scale. As mentioned in an earlier chapter, most of the systems in higher education like the proposal are optional and have not been widely used by applicant pools. For the proposal to achieve its full potential, colleges will need to have capacity to adequately review portfolios from all applicants. With portfolio review taking much longer than the current 10 minutes dedicated to each application, admissions teams as currently structured will likely not be able to meet their same timelines for decisions. College C described these limitations: "when we get 50,000 applications and have a full-time staff of about 15 ... that creates limits within our world of what we're able to look at in the process." With the number of applications received growing annually, colleges cannot consider adopting the proposal until its processes are made more efficient. Admissions teams also may not have staff with the proper background to effectively evaluate artifacts, meaning the resource limitations of institutions will have implications beyond longer timelines for decision. College C specifically identified that "some of these things would probably go beyond our expertise and potentially require faculty review." While this has worked for some institutions like MIT with their currently small amount of maker portfolios, most colleges will not have the ability to convene a faculty panel capable of reviewing artifacts from the entire applicant pool. To secure support the proposed system must then consider design features which reduce the time and information burdens of using portfolios in candidate evaluation.

My first proposal to address the college's operational concerns was to integrate artifacts into the existing application requirements, and participants generally supported this approach. Using artifacts as personal statements and evidence of a student's extracurricular activities were identified in interviews as the most reasonable requirements to supplement with portfolios. The annual reflections in particular received support for their role in an application as they may help reduce the stress many students face in preparing their personal statements (Warren, 2013). College A used interviews in their admission process, a requirement that past uses of portfolio in teacher hiring utilized to bring authentic learning portfolios into consideration; College A, however, stated they would not want to involve the portfolio in the interview so they could receive a different perspective on the student's qualities independent of their other application materials. While mostly interested in evaluating academic ability through portfolio review, all participants again expressed concern that their offices did not currently have the necessary expertise nor a robust process to follow.

I also proposed the use of an intermediary evaluator to provide a robust and expert-guided evaluation of portfolios, yet participants were more divided in whether they would use the results from a pre-assessment in their process. The process shared with the participants would require students to send their portfolio first to the intermediary for review; once evaluated by an expert in the domain relevant to an artifact, the intermediary would send a report summarizing the skills and qualities demonstrated in a portfolio that could be used to efficiently guide consideration of the artifacts during the application review. Colleges that saw this intermediary assessment as helpful indicated that the summary report would help them filter applications. Specifically, colleges described their desire for an intermediary organization that could help identify applicants prepared for an institution's general education requirements. Colleges with rigorous math requirements like A and B saw potential in using a student's authentic learning artifacts to select applicants who showed proficiency in solving quantitative and analytical problems. These schools also favored an expert-run intermediary's ability to contextualize a student's accomplishment within a specific context. With adequate domain knowledge, intermediary reviewers could communicate better insights on the achievements represented by artifacts than the admission team could likely glean themselves. Not all colleges saw the need for an intermediary though and instead preferred to trust their own insights over those of an intermediary. Colleges D and E specifically stated they would conduct a full review of the raw portfolio even if they also received a summary report, as they felt the value of their independent review outweighed the time burden of it.

The question of trust also prevailed in the interviews with all participants. Two mindsets developed over what kind of trust the institution would need to have in the intermediary evaluation. The first mindset prioritized a trust in the process implemented; participants with this mindset included College A, who stated that they would not accept an external review without evidence to the correlations supports its results. College A specifically likened the evidence required to that which is available for the ACT and SAT. In contrast, other participants argued that they would need to trust the entity performing the evaluation. For College C, this seemingly came from their desire to receive support from domain experts in reviewing artifacts; to pass off the review to another organization, they would need to trust the expertise of it. College A expressed that trust of the entity would be particularly important for their applicants as students would likely be concerned of how their admission chances would be impacted by the evaluation. Considering all the perspectives, the organization taking on the reviewer role will need to establish itself as an expert in the domains it operates in as well as demonstrate that its summary reports effectively identify the qualifications colleges are interested in.

6.2.3 Other Features

Interviews included questions about other key features of the proposed design, with participant responses ranging from positive to indifferent. Participants shared a common acceptance of using school-affiliated adults to certify portfolio submissions. With most colleges already seeking evaluations from schools in the form of school reports and letters of recommendation, the interviewed admissions professional showed com-

fortability with deferring to the expertise of a student's teachers or mentors in appraising their qualifications. While public concern over the veracity of some materials provided by a student's recommenders has grown due to recent admissions scandals, the participants generally expressed confidence that cases of fraud were still limited and could be caught by their current processes. The security features included in the design proposal were identified as complementary to their processes and thus would not impede a college's ability to use portfolios. Finally, when AI was discussed as a possible remedy for the resource-intensive review required by portfolio, the colleges expressed mixed opinions. Whereas the colleges saw the potential value in using AI to expedite decisions, the participants also expressed concerns over how racial and gender bias present in other AI applications could impact their decision-making. Despite their hesistations though, colleges did indicate an openess to using AI similar to the what they felt towards an intermediary evaluator if a model designer could demonstrate strong evidence that their predictions provide fair result. With this in mind, AI-driven approaches to authentic learning portfolios, as well as likely any other education transformation, require additional research into the validity of their predictions before use becomes more acceptable.

6.3 Perceptions of Stakeholder Readiness

Participants' perceptions of the other stakeholders' ability to produce compelling portfolios also influenced their hesitations. Many participants specifically worried that students would not produce substantive artifacts, thus limiting the information a portfolio could provide. Many studies have shown that common application components often bias towards applicants from higher income families and more represented backgrounds (Alvero et al., 2021) Broussard, 2014; Hess, 2019; Reeves and Halikias, 2017); the college representatives interviewed believed that a student's artifacts will likely be similarly biased. With equitable evaluations being a key selling point of the transition, the perceived inequity of portfolios dampens support. Participants named two factors that contributed to their perception of inequity: availability of quality instruction and access to post-secondary guidance. Participants noted that differences in instruction quality between schools could make it harder for equally prepared students to demonstrate their abilities; College B, for example, compared one applicant's reflection "breaking down how they ran the math for their physics research paper" that showed mastery of applying math principles to real-world problems to another applicant's "BC Calculus homework" that lacked a similar depth. The artifact quality in cases like College B's example obscures evaluation of a student's abilities and could then contribute to the inequities underserved students face. Access to guidance in preparing their portfolio also influenced participants' perceptions as many students could have less support than their peers in deciding what constitutes a strong portfolio; as noted by College D, students may not "know what should be included, what should be highlighted." Participants' concerns again have roots in problems identified with other application components; studies have shown that personal statements similarly require intensive guidance not available to all students (Warren, 2013). Concerns over the perceived quality of portfolios have led many participants to only support the proposal if it were made a required part of the application because students with limited access to authentic learning experiences would likely produce less impressive portfolios. The requirement, while ideal for successful implementation across the education ecosystem, will likely make adoption unfavorable until the system can address these perceptions.

Perceptions of the expectations of higher-level decision makers also appeared to impact some participants' responses to the proposal. The authentic learning portfolio would provide qualitative insight into a student's qualifications, yet many of the systems colleges interact and comply with rely instead on quantitative measures like test scores and GPAs. College C, the sole publicly funded institution in my study, noted:

There are some data elements we must provide to the university system..., so that even if a student has prepared a very beautiful and thorough ePortfolio and their school doesn't use more than that, we're going to need a grade point average so that they...can access...scholarship programs. Even if a school did not have restrictions on the information they needed to collect, participants acknowledged that they would need to rethink systems like scholarship that have depended on the availability of certain quantitative data. The City University of New York pilot, which developed a way for students to use a portfolio to demonstrate preparedness when their test scores and GPA were insufficient, shows one way that colleges could do this (Fine and Pryiomka, 2020). By experimenting with alternative pathways, higher education institutions will develop expertise in translating artifacts to qualities they want in students.

Finally, the interviews revealed colleges' acceptance of the proposal will depend on how admissions offices perceive their changes will impact applicants' perceptions of what colleges expect. As seen in the previously discussed high school and policy cases, the perceptions of students and their families on what colleges look for in applicants can make or break the success of education transformations. The changes made by higher education institutions to their applications thus have massive implications to how students and families respond to transformation. The proposal leverages this by having colleges lead the push for authentic learning portfolios, but the participants interviewed seem hesitant to take this role as they feel it may cause students to experience more stress rather than less. College A used a metaphor of a grocery store to characterize their concerns. In the conventional process, the student "shops" for experiences freely, stressing about evaluation only when it comes time to apply at "checkout." The proposal instead shifts the stress of "checkout" to each time a student chooses an experience since they perceive their decision as impacting their college options as the decision is made. The decision anxiety illustrated by the grocery store analogy already widely exists; the massive college counseling industry reflects the anxiety many families currently face. The proposal, however, amplifies perceptions because applicants lock themselves into using an artifact by adding it to a portfolio whereas they could ignore it on the conventional application if they want to. Colleges will likely hesitate in employing portfolios until applicants can develop healthier perceptions of the college application process.

6.4 Next Steps for Higher Education

Colleges appear ready to adopt authentic learning portfolios in their admissions process if other primary stakeholders similarly accept. While operational details around review efficiency require additional research to resolve, experiments can begin to identify the correlations between portfolio attributes and preparedness for college. As an intermediary evaluation organization would appear to help many institutions adopt the proposal, future action should prioritize developing a robust evaluation method for either an existing or new entity to execute to support the spread of portfolios. Besides operational difficulties, colleges appear most hesitant to adopt authentic learning portfolios due to concerns that the rest of the ecosystem needs more time and resources to make the transition. The perceptions of schools and families though have been shaped by the lack of formal requirement of portfolios by colleges, and deadlock will remain until one group decides to lead the charge. With growing authentic learning offerings at the K12 level, more colleges need to consider at least optional portfolios like MIT's maker portfolio to motivate more schools to adopt the practice. As admissions teams gain comfortability reviewing portfolios, they can make the transition towards a program-specific requirement like was done at the University of Michigan. Making the step towards a requirement in college applications will give high schools and states the momentum needed to mandate the practices in K-12 schools. Until then though, colleges and K12 schools need to support each other's effort to start transformations.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

This thesis presented a system architecture that uses portfolios to encourage the much-needed adoption of authentic learning practices in American schools. Starting with some of the existing uses of the practices, key operational details were identified to be included in the final design of the system. In developing the design, problems arose that could not be resolved through an operational strategy. Instead, these challenges came from the complex relationships between the system's stakeholders, and thus, their resolution required further investigation into what assurance they needed to ensure their cooperation. Restrictive policies appeared to create some of the hardest barriers to overcome, yet fortunately, momentum towards an education ecosystem more favorable to authentic learning portfolios has appeared to have grown. Policy alone, however, cannot guarantee the transformation. The relationship between students and their opportunities after graduation can also pose a significant hindrance to portfolio's implementation. Conflict between a student's perception that colleges will not accept anything other than test scores and a transcript and the reality that colleges see no problem with using an alternative has impeded efforts by schools to make the transition. Contrarily, colleges have hesitated in considering authentic learning portfolios more widely due to their own misconceptions that students will have the ability to produce a useful collection of artifacts. The strategy to spread portfolios must then consider how to address these concerns to ensure the support needed from all stakeholders. To conclude this thesis, I summarize some of the major changes, motivated by my investigations into the specific needs of the key stakeholders, to my initial system architecture and provide some final recommendations for future efforts attempting to bring the proposal to fruition.

7.1 Changes to the System Architecture

In considering what stakeholders would need to ease the transition towards portfolios, I identified necessary changes to the authority of stakeholders that would require an adjustment to my initial stakeholder salience map. One needed change should be shifting parents and families from being a "Dangerous" stakeholder to a "Definitive" one in Mitchell's salience model by providing them with more legitimacy in the decision-making process (Mitchell et al., 1997). With their support critical to whether students will take portfolios seriously, their views towards the practice need to be better included in the system. Parents and families can indirectly control the governance of their schools through their vote, yet a transformation like authentic learning portfolios could benefit from more formal guidance from parents on what they would like included in the system. Other changes to the salience of stakeholders include increasing the urgency that colleges and employers have towards transformations in K-12 education. These stakeholders contribute to parents' perceptions of what schools should teach, so by not including their perspectives, mismatch occurs between what parents believe should be taught and what life after graduation requires. More urgent college and employer stakeholders will contribute their perspectives to discussions over the directions of schools more readily. Changing the salience of stakeholders will ultimately make it easier for each to participate in the strategic capacity they need to.

The initial system architecture proposed in this thesis assumed that portfolios could be implemented before authentic learning, yet colleges challenged this timeline as it could put students from resource-limited schools at a larger disadvantage. The artifacts from the conventional classroom have little comparable value to those produced by authentic learning. With artifacts making up the primary information used by the enterprise, inequity here greatly diminishes the benefits the system could provide the larger ecosystem. Access to authentic learning experiences and the artifacts that they create should take even larger priority in creating the system. Fortunately, the knowledge generated by the enterprise can help expand access if distributed properly. The local successes that currently exist for the proposal illustrate the kind of knowledge the enterprise will accumulate. With the proper knowledge-sharing infrastructure, schools looking to implement more authentic learning experiences can search out peers that have found success with the practice. To better facilitate knowledge sharing, additional infrastructure will need to be developed, preferably leveraging Open Educational Resources to ensure that all schools can have equitable access to the enterprise's knowledge base.

The last change to initial architecture proposed also relates to the infrastructure supporting the enterprise, specifically how the system handles the different expectations of different disciplines. Currently, many platforms exist to host portfolios, and schools have freedom to choose an approach that works best for their context. Similarly, disciplines will have different expectations of what a portfolio includes, so a variety of portfolio options would need to be supported. However, as focus shifts towards the needs of colleges and employers, uniformity becomes more preferred. College applications, for example, typically include the same components. Platforms like the Common Application have particularly succeeded because they made it easier for students to submit applications to different colleges with similar admissions requirements. Colleges as well as employers would want similar uniformity in the portfolio they choose to accept. In deciding on a preferred infrastructure for the enterprise then, priority should be given to choosing a common platform to host the portfolio yet continue to offer multiple options through which a portfolio can be reviewed. Intermediary organizations would facilitate these offerings, while an independent group could handle the hosting operations. Intermediary organizations would likely support the push for a common platform as it would assist their evaluations as well.

7.2 Action Plan

Implementation of authentic learning portfolios will not be immediate. A consensus over best practices needs to be achieved. Processes and infrastructure need developing. Stakeholders need reassurance that the transformation will not significantly disrupt their operations. All these efforts will require external pressure to provoke stakeholders into acting. The final goal of this thesis is to provide advocates of authentic learning portfolios with a blueprint for how to implement the system. The previously defined system contributes to this goal by detailing how the enterprise should organize, but as a novel project, components will need to be built from the ground up. The remainder of this conclusion delineates the next steps that advocates will need to execute to begin the transformation.

7.2.1 Implement Practice-Friendly Policies

The current ecosystem has qualities that have led to local successes of authentic learning portfolios, yet in general, some features of the system still need to change to make scaling easier across different communities. Policy over time has contributed to more local input regarding assessments. However, the risks of failure and high costs of innovating discourages many communities from straying too far from the status quo. The environment can be made more conducive to implementing portfolios by at first encouraging and later mandating schools adopt the practice. Encouragement goes beyond giving schools the authority to try alternatives by removing other obligations that have historically pulled attention away from portfolios. Schools with less obligations to comply with, and thus competing expectations around things like testing, can then explore how portfolios will support instruction. Even then, schools will hesitate to make changes that anger families. Advocates for authentic learning portfolios should then be ready to challenge opposition by demonstrating the success of portfolios in action. While this may require unpopular interventions that overrule local autonomy, change will not occur until entities take the initial jump. Requirements need not completely disrupt the status quo, but pushes for schools to at least try the practice will contribute to the eventual success of the proposal.

7.2.2 Start Experiments to Refine Design

The local successes of authentic learning portfolios show that transformation can happen in the right circumstances, yet to understand what must be done to adapt the system to different environments, more entities must try out their own implementations. This may cause the most difficulty for expanding the practice as no organization wants to implement a system that could fail, especially if its peers are also not onboard. Unlike other social experiments in which the subject can return to their status quo relatively quickly after treatment, students only have one education that they likely would not want to risk on a transformation with uncertain outcomes. To address this, initial implementations of authentic learning portfolios should not completely replace convention. In high schools, this means preparing a portfolio in parallel to taking standardized tests and achieving a traditional GPA. For colleges, this means first including portfolios as an optional component. The purpose of these first stages is to build familiarity with the practice and finding correlations between artifacts and the traditional measures of achievement. As organizations learn how to support the practice, experiments should shift towards confirming what role portfolios should take in processes. Use should remain optional when it comes to decision making processes, yet the development of a portfolio should begin to take priority to the other measures. At this stage, all students should have portfolios they could reasonably use post-graduation, but ultimately, they retain the ability to not submit it if they so wish. This may require colleges to consider portfolio submitters and nonsubmitters separately, much like many current admissions offices have implemented test-optional policies. High schools and the families that they serve will become more comfortable with using portfolios in assessments, and thus, they will trust the evaluation methods they helped develop through the participation in the pilots. Increased comfortability will lead to portfolios becoming the new normal, and experiments can then become permanent fixtures in the system.

7.2.3 Form Evaluation Organizations

To ensure colleges and other users of students' portfolios have all the support they need, intermediary organizations need to form with the purpose of developing review processes useful to the key stakeholders. While some of the college representatives interviewed expressed ambivalence to the potential outputs of these organizations, the general need for efficient processing of portfolios make intermediary organizations an important part of the system implementation. Considering how varied portfolios will be between different disciplines and levels of a student's development, evaluations will likely need to be adjusted for each context, thus making multiple organizations with different areas of expertise necessary. Each intermediary organization could be supported by a different group of experts, and their process can be designed to identify the key qualities unique to success in each field. The evaluation cannot be too specific though either, as students will still need leeway as they continue to refine their career goals. As for who can support the development of these organizations, existing entities which people already trust as experts within their specific domains should be preferred to starting new ones; this would limit much of the start-up costs of the enterprises by utilizing existing infrastructure to recruit reviewers. A general evaluator could, for example, be administered by the College Board who already recruits many teachers as evaluators for the AP programs. As more domain-specific evaluators become required, organizations could follow two existing blueprints. First, colleges focused on a specific field could come together like arts and design schools did to develop the National Portfolio Day and create review criteria acceptable for their purposes. By directly involving the end users of portfolios in the process design, the intermediary organization can ensure their reports provide value to its users. Second, existing associations of domain experts, such as the National Academies for STEM fields, could support the enterprise; these groups of experts have both the background knowledge to understand students' artifacts as well as lived experience they can contribute to help determine what qualities were most important for success in their fields. AI tools could eventually reduce the human resources required to operate an evaluation organization, but the models employed will likely first require extensive testing to gather the support of stakeholders. Many hesitations over the fairness of algorithms still exist among stakeholders. For AI to overcome these concerns, developers will need to demonstrate that their models can produce accurate predictions not biased by features unrelated to a student's qualifications. As developers will require a large amount of sample portfolios with corresponding evaluations to train a model, deployment of AI will likely need to wait until stakeholders have confidence in the human-driven evaluations of portfolios. The above described experiments in implementing the practices are thus necessary to make an intermediary organization feasible.

7.2.4 Educate Stakeholders

As seen throughout my inquiries into stakeholders' needs, the importance of addressing misconceptions about the practice became apparent. In looking at how schools and other organizations currently implement practices, often groups have taken shortcuts that undercut the practices' benefits for learning. Schools must understand that authentic learning portfolios require more than replacing a test with a project or requiring students to store past work in a folder. The non-cognitive development derived from the practices can only occur when the expectations of students change. Again, engagement should be the goal. The changes required will challenge the existing beliefs that the system has around learning as these mindsets have shown themselves to be insufficient in addressing the issues that the educational ecosystem currently faces. Considering the challenges faced by school transformations in the past, these radical changes will attract opposition comfortable with how things have always been done. The opposition is not wrong in their beliefs, as for some, the status quo will continue to be the best option. Authentic learning portfolios will just expand the range of options that a student has in deciding how they best learn. Stakeholders will need to be convinced of this for the proposal to succeed. Fortunately, the same skills reinforced by authentic learning portfolios can help inform stakeholders of why the transformation is necessary. Much like a portfolio helps a student understand how their artifacts relate to their interests, those who take lead of the transformation can find connections between the benefits of the proposal and the needs of actors in the system. This thesis furthers an ever-present conversation of how we can design a system that not only accommodates learners' differences but embraces and leverages them to improve instruction for all. Each stakeholder has a role to play in fixing the system, and this and future work will help move K-12 education closer to best preparing our nation's future leaders.

Bibliography

- About la colaborativa [La colaborativa]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://la-colaborativa.org/about/
- About PBLWorks [PBLWorks]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www. pblworks.org/about
- About performance assessment [New york performance standards consortium]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from http://www.performanceassessment.org/howitworks
- AIGA designer 2025, why design education should pay attention to trends. (2017). AIGA Educators. https://educators.aiga.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ 2017-18 aigaDEC facultyResearchGrant guidelines.pdf
- Akin, K., January 12, I. C. D., & 2022. (2022, January 12). Iowa board of regents votes to remove standardized testing requirement [Iowa capital dispatch]. Retrieved January 31, 2023, from https://iowacapitaldispatch.com/2022/01/12/iowaboard-of-regents-votes-to-remove-standardized-testing-requirement/
- Alderman, E. (2015, December 4). School accountability before, during, and after NCLB [Education next]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.educationnext. org/school-accountability-before-during-and-after-nclb/
- Alvero, A., Giebel, S., Gebre-Medhin, B., Antonio, A. L., Stevens, M. L., & Domingue, B. W. (2021). Essay content and style are strongly related to household income and SAT scores: Evidence from 60,000 undergraduate applications. *Science Advances*, 7(42), eabi9031. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abi9031
- Anderson, V., & Burdman, P. (2022). The calculus of college admissions: How policy, practice, and perceptions limit equity in high school mathematics. Just Equations.
- AP capstone diploma program AP central / college board [The college board]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://apcentral.collegeboard.org/courses/apcapstone
- Application requirements [Harvard college]. (n.d.). Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://college.harvard.edu/admissions/apply/application-requirements
- Authentic learning. (2013, May 15). In *The glossary of education reform*. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.edglossary.org/authentic-learning/
- Barnes, C., Wragg, N., Fisher, E., Tyagi, S., & de Kruiff, A. (2022). Portfolio literacy and the transition to work for graphic design graduates. *International Journal* of Art & Design Education, 41(2), 300–319. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade. 12407

- Barnum, M. (2018, October 19). Maine went all in on proficiency based learning then rolled it back. [Chalkbeat] [Section: Front Page]. Retrieved October 3, 2022, from https://www.chalkbeat.org/2018/10/18/21105950/maine-wentall-in-on-proficiency-based-learning-then-rolled-it-back-what-does-thatmean-for-the-rest
- Barshay, J. (2018, October 22). Documenting maine's failure to implement proficiencybased education [The hechinger report]. Retrieved December 2, 2022, from http: //hechingerreport.org/documenting-maines-failure-to-implement-proficiencybased-education/
- Belasco, A. S., Rosinger, K. O., & Hearn, J. C. (2015). The test-optional movement at america's selective liberal arts colleges: A boon for equity or something else? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 37(2), 206–223. https://doi.org/ 10.3102/0162373714537350
- Bhalla, N., Nye, B., Zeilman, K., & Cape, J. (2020, April 8). PROFICIENCY-BASED LEARNING IN VERMONT: Follow-up on implementation and initial impacts (Policy Brief No. 1920-04). The Nelson A Rockefeller Center at Dartmouth College. Retrieved October 11, 2022, from https://rockefeller.dartmouth.edu/
 sites/rockefeller.prod/files/prs/proficiency-based_learning_final.pdf
- Biggs, J. (1999). What the student does: Teaching for enhanced learning. *Higher* Education Research & Development, 18(1), 57–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 0729436990180105
- Bjorklund-Young, A. (2016, June 3). What do we know about developing students' non-cognitive skills? [Johns hopkins institute for education policy]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://edpolicy.education.jhu.edu/what-do-weknow-about-developing-students-non-cognitive-skills/
- Boody, R. M., & Montecinos, C. (1997). Hiring a new teacher? ask for a portfolio. Principal, 77, 34–35.
- Borghans, L., Duckworth, A. L., Heckman, J. J., & ter Weel, B. (2008). The economics and psychology of personality traits. *Journal of Human Resources*, 43(4), 972– 1059. https://doi.org/10.1353/jhr.2008.0017
- Broussard, M. (2014, July 15). Why poor schools can't win at standardized testing - the atlantic. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.theatlantic.com/ education/archive/2014/07/why-poor-schools-cant-win-at-standardizedtesting/374287/
- Burke, L. (2020, December 13). The death and life of an admissions algorithm [Inside higher ed]. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.insidehighered. com/admissions/article/2020/12/14/u-texas-will-stop-using-controversialalgorithm-evaluate-phd
- Cabot projects / high-quality project-based learning [Cabot school]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://caboteducation.org/
- Cammarata, L. V., & Larson, R. C. (2018). PROJECT-BASED METHODS FOR ASSESSMENT OF ACTIVE LEARNING STEM VIDEO LESSONS. International Journal on Innovations in Online Education, 2(1). https://doi.org/ 10.1615/IntJInnovOnlineEdu.2018026526
- Campbell, D. T. (1979). Assessing the impact of planned social change. *Evaluation* and Program Planning, 2(1), 67–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/0149-7189(79) 90048-X
- Carolan, B. V. (2018). Extracurricular activities and achievement growth in kindergarten through first grade: The mediating role of non-cognitive skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 45, 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq. 2018.06.004
- Chen, Z. (2023). Collaboration among recruiters and artificial intelligence: Removing human prejudices in employment. *Cognition, Technology & Work (Online)*, 25(1), 135–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10111-022-00716-0
- Closing america's education funding gaps [The century foundation]. (2020, July 22). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://tcf.org/content/report/closing-americaseducation-funding/
- Cognitive ability. (n.d.). In APA dictionary of psychology. American Psychological Association. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://dictionary.apa.org/cognitive-ability
- Cohen, S. (2021, April 13). Bring back standardized tests for fairness [The hill]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://thehill.com/opinion/education/547597bring-back-standardized-tests-for-fairness/
- Conner, J., Posner, M., & Nsowaa, B. (2022). The relationship between student voice and student engagement in urban high schools. *The Urban Review*, 54 (5), 755– 774. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-022-00637-2
- Construction updates [City of chelsea, MA]. (2022, March 21). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.chelseama.gov/community/construction_updates.php# collapse11672b2
- Cortiella, C. (2005). No child left behind: Understanding assessment options for IDEAeligible students. National Center for Learning Disability.
- COVID-19: Stay informed with the latest enrollment information [National student clearinghouse research center]. (2022, October 20). Retrieved November 9, 2022, from https://nscresearchcenter.org/stay-informed/
- Creative portfolios [MIT admissions]. (n.d.). Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://mitadmissions.org/apply/firstyear/portfolios-additional-material/
- CRESST recommendation for new assessment system for UC admissions [CRESST]. (2020, May 20). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://50.cresst.org/2020/05/ 20/cresst-recommendation-for-new-assessment-system-for-uc-admissions/
- Davis, M. (2012). LEVERAGING GRADUATE EDUCATION FOR a MORE RELE-VANT FUTURE. Visible Language, 46(1), 110–121. https://search.ebscohost. com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=asu&AN=79468607&site=ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8978330
- Dee, T. S., & Jacob, B. A. (2010). The impact of no child left behind on students, teachers, and schools. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 2010(2), 149– 194. https://doi.org/10.1353/eca.2010.0014
- Demonstrating readiness / graduation seals [Ohio department of education]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://education.ohio.gov/Topics/Ohio-s-

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Graduation-Requirements} \, / \, \mbox{Ohio} \, \% \, \mbox{E2} \, \% \, \mbox{80} \, \% \, \mbox{99s-Graduation-Requirements} \, / \, \mbox{Graduation-Seals} \end{array} \\ \mbox{Graduation-Seals} \end{array}$

- Dixon, L. (2003, February 27). Milford to challenge MCAS: School officials plan to give learning disabled students diplomas [Milford daily news]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.milforddailynews.com/story/news/2003/02/28/ milford-to-challenge-mcas-school/41226220007/
- Donovan, M. S., Bransford, J. D., & Pellegrino, J. W. (Eds.). (1999, June 1). How people learn: Bridging research and practice. National Academies Press. https: //doi.org/10.17226/9457
- Dotson, R. (2016). Goal setting to increase student academic performance. Journal of School Administration Research and Development, 1(1), 45–46. https://doi. org/10.32674/jsard.v1i1.1908
- Elementary and secondary school emergency relief fund [Office of elementary and secondary education]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://oese.ed.gov/ offices/education-stabilization-fund/elementary-secondary-school-emergencyrelief-fund/
- Fast facts [U.s. department of education, national center for education statistics] [Publisher: National Center for Education Statistics]. (2023). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=372
- Fawcett, E. (2022). The pandemic generation goes to college. it has not been easy. The New York Times. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.nytimes. com/2022/11/01/us/covid-college-students.html
- Ferguson, R. (2012). Learning analytics: Drivers, developments and challenges. International Journal of Technology Enhanced Learning, 4(5), 304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJTEL.2012.051816</u>
- Fine, M., & Pryiomka, K. (2020, July 21). Assessing college readiness through authentic student work [Learning policy institute]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/assessing-college-readinessauthentic-student-work-report
- Flaws of averages / MIT BLOSSOMS [MIT BLOSSOMS]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://blossoms.mit.edu/projects/flaws_averages
- Formative vs summative assessment eberly center carnegie mellon university [Eberly center carnegie mellon university]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.cmu.edu/teaching/assessment/basics/formative-summative.html
- Fredricks, J., McColskey, W., Meli, J., Montrosse, B., Mordica, J., & Mooney, K. (2011, January). Measuring student engagement in upper elementary through high school: A description of 21 instruments (No. 098). U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Southeast. Washington, D.C. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED514996.pdf
- Gabrieli, C., Ansel, D., & Krachman, S. B. (2015, December). Ready to be counted: The research case for education policy action on non-cognitive skills. a working paper [Publication Title: Transforming Education ERIC Number: ED605379]. Transforming Education, Inc. Retrieved March 28, 2023, from https://eric.ed. gov/?id=ED605379

- Gewertz, C. (2018). ESSA offers testing flexibility. so why aren't states using it? *Education Week.* Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/essa-offers-testing-flexibility-so-why-arent-states-using-it/2018/04
- Guha, R., Wagner, T., Darling-Hammond, L., Taylor, T., & Curtis, D. (2018). The promise of performance assessments: Innovations in high school learning and college admission.
- Harland, R. (2011). The dimensions of graphic design and its spheres of influence. Design Issues, 27(1), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1162/DESI a 00054
- Hess, A. J. (2019, October 3). Rich students get better SAT scores—here's why [CNBC]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/10/03/richstudents-get-better-sat-scores-heres-why.html
- Hewitt, E., & Duffort, L. (2019, April 21). Vermont's 'all over the map' effort to switch schools to proficiency-based learning [The hechinger report]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://hechingerreport.org/vermonts-all-over-the-mapeffort-to-switch-schools-to-proficiency-based-learning/
- Hilton, J. (2016). Open educational resources and college textbook choices: A review of research on efficacy and perceptions. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 64 (4), 573–590. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9434-9
- Holland, R. (2007, September). *Portfolios: A backward step in school accountability*. Lexington Institute. Arlington, VA.
- Holtzman, D. M., Kraft, E. M., & Small, E. (2021). Use of ePortfolios for making hiring decisions: A comparison of the results from representatives of large and small businesses [Publisher: Emerald Publishing Limited]. Journal of Work-Applied Management, 14(1), 18–34. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWAM-01-2021-0001
- Hoover, E. (2015). An artist draws a path to college. Chronicle of Higher Education, 61(19), A20–A23.
- Horn, M. (2022, August 11). Awash in federal dollars, schools have a chance to reinvent themselves [The new york sun]. Retrieved November 9, 2022, from https: //www.nysun.com/article/awash-in-federal-dollars-schools-have-a-chance-toreinvent-themselves
- Huxham, M., Campbell, F., & Westwood, J. (2012). Oral versus written assessments: A test of student performance and attitudes [Publisher: Routledge __eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010.515012]. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 37(1), 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2010. 515012
- Ingraham, K. (2021, October 28). K-12 redesign: Graduation requirements [American center for transforming education]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www. discovery.org/education/2021/10/28/k-12-redesign-graduation-requirements/
- Javurek, A. (2021, April 6). Fixing ESSA's innovative assessment initiative. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.the74million.org/article/javurek-essasinnovative-assessment-initiative-was-a-great-idea-but-the-execution-wasflawed-heres-how-the-ed-department-can-fix-it/

- Kane, T. (2022, May 22). Kids are far, far behind in school [The atlantic] [Section: Ideas]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/ archive/2022/05/schools-learning-loss-remote-covid-education/629938/
- Kasakove, S. (2021). The college admissions scandal: Where some of the defendants are now. *The New York Times*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/09/us/varsity-blues-scandal-verdict.html
- Kelly, D., & Hancock, S. (2018). Alberta school principals' use of professional portfolios in teacher hiring [Publisher: Canadian Society for the Study of Education]. Canadian Journal of Education / Revue canadienne de l'éducation, 41(4), 1050–1078. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www-jstororg.libproxy.mit.edu/stable/26732971
- Kelly, R. (2018). Design in decline: Breathing new life into an industry through education [_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/dmj.12041]. Design Management Journal, 13(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmj. 12041
- Kim, A. (2021, August 30). AP's equity face-plant [Washington monthly]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from http://washingtonmonthly.com/2021/08/29/aps-equityface-plant/
- Klein, A. (2015). No child left behind: An overview. *Education Week*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/no-child-left-behind-an-overview/2015/04
- Klein, A. (2016). The every student succeeds act: An ESSA overview. *Education Week*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edweek.org/policy-politics/theevery-student-succeeds-act-an-essa-overview/2016/03
- Klein, A. (2018). Can districts use the SAT or ACT for school accountability without state OK? *Education Week*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edweek. org/education/can-districts-use-the-sat-or-act-for-school-accountability-without-state-ok/2018/05
- Korn, M. (2018, January 31). Some elite colleges review an application in 8 minutes (or less) [Wall street journal]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.wsj. com/articles/some-elite-colleges-review-an-application-in-8-minutes-or-less-1517400001
- Kuykendall, M. (2022, April 27). Implementing project-based learning in AP courses [Edutopia]. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.edutopia.org/article/ implementing-project-based-learning-ap-courses/
- Larson, R. C., & Sibdari, S. (2020). From rote to wrote: College admission via secure ePortfolios. *Creative Education*, 11(9), 1580–1601. https://doi.org/10.4236/ ce.2020.119116
- Limpatoudis, E. (2020, April 16). An architecture school applicant's guide to portfolio design [Architecture school review]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://architectureschoolreview.com/2020/04/13/how-to-create-the-bestarchitecture-school-portfolio/
- Loeb, S., & Figlio, D. (2010). School accountability. Handbook of the Economics of Education, Vol. 3, 383. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://cepa.stanford. edu/content/school-accountability

- Mahnken, K. (2022). 'nation's report card': Two decades of growth wiped out by two years of pandemic. *The 74 Million*. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https: //www.the74million.org/article/nations-report-card-two-decades-of-growthwiped-out-by-two-years-of-pandemic/
- Marlow, J., & Dabbish, L. (2013). Activity traces and signals in software developer recruitment and hiring. Proceedings of the 2013 conference on Computer supported cooperative work, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1145/2441776.2441794
- Martin, A. E., & Fisher-Ari, T. R. (2021). "if we don't have diversity, there's no future to see": High-school students' perceptions of race and gender representation in STEM. Science Education, 105(6), 1076–1099. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce. 21677
- Mastery transcript® and MTC learning record [Mastery transcript consortium® (MTC)]. (2019, August 15). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://mastery. org/what-we-do/mastery-transcript-and-mtc-learning-record/
- McGee, E. O., & Pearman, F. A. (2015). Understanding black male mathematics high achievers from the inside out: Internal risk and protective factors in high school. *The Urban Review*, 47(3), 513–540. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-014-0317-2
- McMillan, L. R., Parker, F., & Sport, A. (2014). Decisions, decisions! e-portfolio as an effective hiring assessment tool. *Nursing Management*, 45(4), 52–54. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000444882.93063.a7
- Medlin, B., & Smith, U. F. (2011). The relationship between optimism and engagement: The impact on student performance.
- Mehta, J. (2023). 3 years since the pandemic wrecked attendance, kids still aren't showing up to school. NPR. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.npr. org/2023/03/02/1160358099/school-attendance-chronic-absenteeism-covid
- Meister L, Heath J, Andrews J, & Tingen MS. (2002). Professional nursing portfolios: A global perspective [Publisher: Jannetti Publications, Inc.]. MEDSURG Nursing, 11(4), 177–182. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://search. ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=106962429&site= ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8978330
- Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R., & Wood, D. J. (1997). Toward a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. The Academy of Management Review, 22(4), 853. https://doi.org/10. 2307/259247
- Montes, E. (2021, May 13). Admissions, acceptance & anticipation: Reflecting on higher ed engagement [Mastery transcript consortium® (MTC)]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://mastery.org/higher-ed-engagement/
- National teacher and principal survey (NTPS) [U.s. department of education, national center for education statistics] [Publisher: National Center for Education Statistics]. (2018). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/ntps/tables/ntps1718_fltable06_t1s.asp
- Nietzel, M. T. (2002, November 15). More than 80% of four-year colleges won't require standardized tests for fall 2023 admissions [Forbes] [Section: Education]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/michaeltnietzel/

2022/11/15/more-than-80-of-four-year-colleges-wont-require-standardized-tests-for-fall-2023-admissions/

- Nightingale, D. J., & Rhodes, D. H. (2015). The ARIES framework. In Architecting the future enterprise. The MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9290. 003.0003
- Noonoo, S. (2022, May 16). ACT says grade inflation is a serious problem. it's probably not. - EdSurge news [EdSurge] [Section: Education Technology]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edsurge.com/news/2022-05-16-act-saysgrade-inflation-is-a-serious-problem-it-s-probably-not
- O'Donnell, R. (2018, November 8). Eye tracking study shows recruiters look at resumes for 7 seconds [HR dive]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.hrdive. com/news/eye-tracking-study-shows-recruiters-look-at-resumes-for-7seconds/541582/
- O'Donoghue, D. (2011). Has the art college entry portfolio outlived its usefulness as a method of selecting students in an age of relational, collective and collaborative art practice? *International Journal of Education & the Arts*, 12(3), 1–27. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://search.ebscohost.com/login. aspx?direct=true&db=asu&AN=63482661&site=ehost-live&scope=site& authtype=shib&custid=s8978330
- OECD. (2019, November 15). Skills matter: Additional results from the survey of adult skills. https://doi.org/10.1787/1f029d8f-en
- OECD. (2022, October 3). Education at a glance 2022: OECD indicators. https://doi.org/10.1787/3197152b-en
- Our approach [Envision education]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https:// envisionschools.org/our-approach/
- Pelsue, B. (2017). When it comes to education, the federal government is in charge of ... um, what? [Harvard graduate school of education]. Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/17/08/when-it-comeseducation-federal-government-charge-um-what]
- Performance assessment of competency education [New hampshire department of education]. (n.d.). Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.education. support/performance-assessment-for-competency-education
- Peterson, C., & Abelson, H. (2015, November). Gender imbalance in MIT admissions maker portfolios [MIT faculty newsletter]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://web.mit.edu/fnl/volume/282/peterson_abelson.html
- Phelps, R. P. (2011). Teach to the test? [Publisher: [Wilson Quarterly, Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars]]. The Wilson Quarterly (1976-), 35(4), 38–42. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/41484371
- POLICY, PILOTS AND THE PATH TO COMPETENCY-BASED EDUCATION: A national landscape. (2017). ExcelinEd. https://excelined.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/ExcelinEd.PolicyPilotsAndThePathToCBENationalLandscape. Spring2017-1.pdf
- Portfolio defense [Envision learning partners]. (2021, February 19). Retrieved May 10, 2023, from https://envisionlearning.org/portfolio-defense/

- Portfolio reviews undergraduate admissions / washington university in st. louis [Undergraduate admissions]. (n.d.). Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https:// admissions.wustl.edu/how-to-apply/portfolio-review/
- Proficiency-based graduation requirements [State of vermont agency of education]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://education.vermont.gov/studentlearning/proficiency-based-learning/proficiency-based-graduation-requirements
- Quirk, A., Campbell, N., & Boser, U. (2020, October 14). Early high school STEM perceptions associated with postsecondary outcomes. Center for American Progress. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.americanprogress.org/article/earlyhigh-school-stem-perceptions-associated-postsecondary-outcomes/
- Recommendation on open educational resources (OER) [UNESCO]. (2019, November 25). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.unesco.org/en/legal-affairs/ recommendation-open-educational-resources-oer
- Reeves, R., & Halikias, D. (2017, February 1). Race gaps in SAT scores highlight inequality and hinder upward mobility [Brookings institution]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.brookings.edu/research/race-gaps-in-sat-scoreshighlight-inequality-and-hinder-upward-mobility/
- Results [Cristo rey network]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www. cristoreynetwork.org/impact/results
- Rideout, B. M. (2022, July 29). More than numbers. your personal experiences and reflections count in admissions decisions, too. [Michigan ross]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://michiganross.umich.edu/undergraduate/bba/admissions/admissions-blog/2022/07/29/more-numbers-your-personal-experiences-and
- Rose, J. (2012, May 9). *How to break free of our 19th-century factory-model education* system [The atlantic] [Section: Business]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https: //www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2012/05/how-to-break-free-of-our-19th-century-factory-model-education-system/256881/
- Saavedra, A. R., Liu, Y., Haderlein, S. K., Rapaport, A., Investigator, C.-P., Garland, M., & Hoepfner, D. (2021). Knowledge in action: Efficacy study over two years. https://cesr.usc.edu/sites/default/files/Knowledge%20in%20Action% 20Efficacy%20Study_18feb2021_final.pdf
- Samuels, C. (2018). Ed. dept. policing ESSA rules on portfolio assessments for students with disabilities. *Education Week*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https: //www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/ed-dept-policing-essa-rules-onportfolio-assessments-for-students-with-disabilities/2018/04
- Sarma, A., Chen, X., Kuttal, S., Dabbish, L., & Wang, Z. (2016). Hiring in the global stage: Profiles of online contributions [ISSN: 2329-6313]. 2016 IEEE 11th International Conference on Global Software Engineering (ICGSE), 1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICGSE.2016.35
- Satterfield, A. (2021, September 30). State university system of florida requires test scores for college admissions [PHS news] [Section: News]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://phsnews.com/15788/news/state-university-system-offlorida-requires-test-scores-for-college-admissions/

- Sawchuk, S. (2021). Why school boards are now hot spots for nasty politics. *Education Week*. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edweek.org/leadership/why-school-boards-are-now-hot-spots-for-nasty-politics/2021/07
- Schoen, L., & Fusarelli, L. D. (2008). Innovation, NCLB, and the fear factor: The challenge of leading 21st-century schools in an era of accountability. *Educational Policy*, 22(1), 181–203. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904807311291
- School counselors matter [The education trust]. (2019, February 1). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://edtrust.org/resource/school-counselors-matter/
- School of engineering [Tufts admissions]. (n.d.). Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://admissions.tufts.edu/apply/first-year-students/school-of-engineering/
- Schrager, A. (2018, June 29). The modern education system was designed to train future factory workers to be "docile" [Quartz]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https: //qz.com/1314814/universal-education-was-first-promoted-by-industrialistswho-wanted-docile-factory-workers
- Shanbhag, D. V., Baligar, P., & Joshi, G. (2020). Development of non-cognitive skills in first-year engineering education. *Proceedia Computer Science*, 172, 585–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2020.05.072
- Shandomo, H. M. (2010). The role of critical reflection in teacher education. School-University Partnerships, 4(1).
- Shelton, C. (2023, January 26). State by state: America's teacher shortage [NewsNation]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.newsnationnow.com/usnews/education/education-reform/hold-how-each-state-is-solving-its-teacher-shortage-and-could-you-become-a-teacher/
- Spar, B., Dye, C., Lefkowitz, R., & Pate, D. (2018). 2018 workforce learning report. LinkedIn Learning.
- Spicer, A. (2019, March 11). 3 colorado school districts using graduation portfolios [NGLC] [Archive Location: https://www.nextgenlearning.org/ Publisher: NGLC]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.nextgenlearning.org/ articles/3-powerful-examples-of-school-districts-using-capstones-andportfolios
- Strohmeier, S. (2010). Electronic portfolios in recruiting? a conceptual analysis of usage [Num Pages: 13 Place: Long Beach, United States Publisher: Journal of Electronic Commerce Research]. Journal of Electronic Commerce Research, 11(4), 268–280. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.proquest. com/docview/817466530/abstract/C353DC5940F746D9PQ/1
- Student engagement. (2013, December 13). In The glossary of education reform. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.edglossary.org/student-engagement/
- Taylor, F. (2010). How to create a portfolio and get hired: A guide for graphic designers and illustrators/ fig taylor. Laurence King Publ.
- The College Board. (2018, January 17). AP computer science principles. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dVPUumrPZ48
- The College Board. (2020, January 7). AP with WE service. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nX8gI65xtIQ
- Theel, R. K., & Tallerico, M. (2004). Using portfolios for teacher hiring: Insights from school principals. Action in Teacher Education (Association of Teacher

 $Educators), \ 26(1), \ 26-33. \ https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct = true \& db = eue \& AN = 507903598 \& site = ehost-live \& scope = site \& authtype = shib \& custid = s8978330$

- U.s. education: An outdated system. (2020, August 26). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://students4sc.org/2020/08/26/u-s-education-an-outdated-system/
- Verifying proficiency: Graduation standards [Great schools partnership]. (n.d.). Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.greatschoolspartnership.org/proficiencybased - learning / assessment - verification / verifying - proficiency - graduation standards/
- Ward, C., & Moser, C. (2008, November 17). E-portfolios as a hiring tool: Do employers really care? [Educause]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://er. educause.edu/articles/2008/11/eportfolios-as-a-hiring-tool-do-employersreally-care
- Warren, J. (2013). The rhetoric of college application essays: Removing obstacles for low income and minority students. American Secondary Education, 42(1), 43– 56. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN= 92045048&site=ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8978330
- Watanabe, T. (2021, November 19). UC slams the door on standardized admissions tests, nixing any SAT alternative [Los angeles times] [Section: California]. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.latimes.com/california/story/ 2021-11-18/uc-slams-door-on-sat-and-all-standardized-admissions-tests
- Weiss, T. R. (2018). Developers: Show your GitHub project to attract job offers [Place: Chicago, United States Publisher: Informa]. SQL Server Pro. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https://www.proquest.com/docview/2000380438/ abstract/C63DBA7F07B64893PQ/1
- Whitworth, J., Jones, S., Deering, T., & Hardy, S. (2016). Hiring quality teachers: The devil is in the details. *Professional Educator*, 40(1), 20–32. https:// search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=116408768& site=ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8978330
- Wiener, D. (2006, January). Alternate assessments measured against grade-level achievement standards: The massachusetts "competency portfolio" (No. 59). University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Minneapolis, MN.
- Willis, L., & Martinez, M. R. (2023, January). Authentic student work in college admissions: Lessons from the ross school of business. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/756.774
- Wright, B. (2022, May 8). Unlike many peers, the university of tennessee system will once again require ACT or SAT [Knoxville news sentinel]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.knoxnews.com/story/news/education/2022/05/09/ university-tennessee-require-act-sat-scores-again/9672654002/
- Young, R. (2023, May 9). Average US high school students receive meager 38 minutes of guidance counselor college admissions advice [PRWeb]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.prweb.com/releases/2011/03/prweb5163594.htm